
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
AGENDA 

Thursday, March 7, 2024  Frankfort Village Hall     
6:30 P.M.                 432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 

1. Call to Order

2. Roll Call

3. Approval of Minutes of February 22, 2024

4. Public Hearing: 219 Pacific – Lanigan Residence (Ref#106)
Requests: Zoning Ordinance & Land Subdivision Regulations variations to permit use of non-masonry
siding on first floor of a single-family home, reduced front yard Setback (Maple Street) from 30’ to 22.6’,
reduced corner side yard setback (Pacific Street Street) from 30’ to 24.9’, increased maximum lot coverage
from 20% to 28.9%, reduced lot width from 120’ to 101.28’ and reduced lot depth from 150’ to 147.31’, for
the property located in the R-2 Single Family Residential District located at 219 Pacific Street.  Other:
Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision to establish a lot-of-record. (PIN: 19-09-28-223-023-0000)

5. Public Hearing:  20857 and 20859 S. La Grange Road – Bear Down Barbecue (Ref#107)
Request: Special Use Permit for a full-service restaurant with liquor sales, for Bear Down Barbeque &
Catering Company, located at 20857 and 20859 S. La Grange Road in the B-2 Community Business District
(PIN: 19-09-22-100-051-0000).

6. Public Hearing:  19989 S. La Grange Road – Magic Massage (Ref#108)
Request:  Special Use Permit for a massage therapy establishment at 19989 S. La Grange Road in B-3 the
General Business District (19-0915-101-006-0000).

7. Public Hearing: Lot B in Kean Avenue Estates – Blocker Residence (Ref#109)
Requests: Zoning Ordinance variations to (1) permit use of non-masonry siding on first floor and second
floor of a single-family home, and (2) to permit the use of metallic roofing shingles on the primary structure,
for the property located in the R-2 Single Family Residential District located on the west side of 95th
Avenue, north of Lawndale Court (PIN: 19-09-22-300-025-0000)

8. Workshop: 9426 Corsair Road – Triple Crown Training
Future Public Hearing Request: Special Use Permit for indoor recreation for a baseball training facility at
9426 Corsair Road in the I-1 Limited Industrial District (PINs: 19-09-34-302-013-0000).

9. Public Comments

10. Village Board & Committee Updates

11. Other Business

12. Attendance Confirmation (March 21, 2024)

13. Adjournment
____________________________________________________________________________________________
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider

1



items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable Federal and State laws, the meeting will be accessible 
to individuals with disabilities. Persons requiring auxiliary aids and/or services should contact the Community Development 
Department at (815) 469-2177, preferably no later than five days before the meeting. 
 

2



 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        February 22, 2024 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Nichole Schaeffer (Chair), Brian James, Johnny Morris, Jessica 
Jakubowski, Will Markunas, David Hogan, Dan Knieriem 

Commissioners Absent: None 

Staff Present: Community & Economic Development Director Mike Schwarz, 
Planner Amanda Martinez  

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from February 8th, 2024 

Chair Schaeffer asked for questions or comments regarding the minutes.  There were none.  

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes from February 8th, 2024, as presented. 

Motion by: Hogan    Seconded by:  Knieriem 

Approved: (6-0-1, Jakubowski abstained) 

B. Workshop: 145 Industry Avenue – All Purpose Storage 

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report. 

Jared Gingrich, PE, the civil engineering consultant for the applicant approached the 
podium.  He mentioned that they started this project in 2021.  He explained the grading 
and drainage challenges for the site, which necessitate the need for the retaining wall. 

Tim Wilkins, the applicant, approached the podium. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if there were any initial questions or comments from the other 
commission members. 

 
 

3



Commissioner Hogan asked if the proposed self-storage would be all indoors and if there 
would be any outdoor storage.  He also asked if the units will be climate controlled. 

Tim Wilkins replied that all storage will be indoors and would not be climate controlled.  
Storage Express will manage the site. 

Commissioner Hogan asked if they plan to re-pave the existing site. 

Tim Wilkins replied yes that they recently completed paving the existing site a few months 
ago.  He added that they have already done more than $1M in improvements to the property 
thus far. 

Commissioner Morris asked if the existing site will be fenced. 

Tim Wilkins replied yes.  He added that this site will have about 32 security cameras. 

Commissioner Morris asked about landscaping phasing. 

Tim Wilkins replied that they would do the whole project at one time. 

Commissioner James asked if they would consider adding landscaping along the frontage 
of the existing site.   

Tim Wilkins replied yes, they would be willing to do that. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she did not have any initial questions. 

Commissioner Knieriem started that he did not have any initial questions. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked about the improvements to the existing site. 

Tim Wilkins replied that they just finished some of the improvements, including pavement 
repairs and painting the existing buildings. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked who is renting these units in terms of the typical customer. 

Tim Wilkins replied that their data indicates that there is a mix of customers based on need.  
Some customers are individuals, and some are companies or professionals that need to store 
records. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked when the existing self-storage buildings were built. 

Tim Wilkins replied that he estimated that these were built in the 1980s or 1990s. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked why they looked at Frankfort. 

4



Tim Wilkins replied that their studies for Frankfort indicated that there are 4.3 square feet 
of storage needed per capita. 

Chair Schaeffer asked for more information on the future Special Use Permit request for 
retail that staff noted in the staff report.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked what tasks the employee would perform at the facility. 

Tim Wilkins stated that the employee would sell boxes, packing tape, and other items, etc. 
in the small office space. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if any units would have power. 

Tim Wilkins replied no, not on the inside of the units.  He added that any such power inside 
the units could attract people wanting to live in the units, which does happen from time to 
time.  He added that the exterior building lights are fully cut-off, meaning that no light 
pollution would occur on the adjacent properties. 

Commissioner Knieriem noticed that the building site drops off to the east. 

Jared Gingrich stated that they need to raise the property so it can drain toward the road 
where the detention pond would be located.  The pond would then drain back to the east 
via pipes and an overland flow route if necessary. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked for more information about the detention pond. 

Jared Gingrich replied that there is a continuous flow to the pond. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the proposed buildings would be constructed as slab on 
grade. 

Tim Wilkins replied yes. 

Chair Schaeffer suggested that if there were no additional initial questions for the applicant 
or project engineer, the commission could discuss the topics that are presented in the staff 
report one by one.   

Chair Schaeffer asked the other commission members if there were any issues with the 
proposed use. 

There was consensus that the proposed self-storage use is fine. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if they also own the storage facility by Navarro Farm.  He 
also asked if there would be an employee residing on site. 

5



Tim Wilkins replied no, they do not own that other facility.  He added that there will not 
be a caretaker residence at the existing and proposed facility. 

Chair Schaeffer asked staff about the request for the fence detail and gate. 

Amanda Martinez stated that the applicant provided an example photo but no details and 
that the site plan should show the new fence and gate at the existing site. 

Mike Schwarz stated that the applicant will need to submit a fence detail with the material 
and color noted. 

Jared Gingrich stated that they plan to enclose the buildings with a consistent fence which 
would not be chain link material.  He noted that there are existing chain link fences along 
the property lines that appear to belong to the adjacent property owners. 

Chair Schaeffer asked staff about the variation for the parking. 

Amanda Martinez replied that staff recommends that they show the parking stall locations 
on the site plan. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the other commission members if there were any questions or 
comments regarding the required loading berth.  There was consensus based on the nature 
of the use that no specific loading berth is necessary. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the other commission members if there were any questions or 
comments regarding the trash enclosure requirement. 

Jared Gingrich stated that they are considering several options, including possibly using 
one of the indoor storage units to contain one or more dumpsters. 

Tim Wilkins stated that they typically use one unit as a maintenance unit where they could 
also place a dumpster. 

There was a consensus that using a unit to store the dumpster would be most ideal, 
especially since it would deter patrons from leaving larger trash outdoors. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the other commission members if there were any questions or 
comments regarding the proposed retaining wall. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that based on the site grading it seems strange that they are 
seeking to place the detention basin closer to the street when the site wants to naturally 
drain to the east. 

6



Jared Gingrich explained that they did propose an earlier layout like that with staff but it 
would have required a request for a building setback variation from the 125-foot setback 
from the centerline of Center Road. 

Commissioner James asked the applicant if there are two gates for the security fence. 

Tim Wilkins replied yes.  For the public hearing, they will show the two gate locations on 
the site plan along with the parking stall locations. 

Jared Gingrich stated that the north gate would be automated. The south gate would be a 
crash gate. The existing access point on Industry Drive would have another gate. 

There was some discussion about traffic demand. 

Tim Wilkins stated this is a very low impact use. 

Commissioner Jakobowski asked how customers would open the access gate(s). 

Tim Wilkins replied that there would be a mobile phone app. 

Commissioner Jakubowski asked why they are not doing climate control for the storage 
units. 

Tim Wilkins replied that they love climate control, but it does not “pencil out” 
economically for their investment. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if they are amenable to the landscaping comments from staff. 

Jared Gingrich replied yes. 

Tim Wilkins stated they will provide new landscaping along the existing frontage on 
Industry Avenue as well. 

Commissioner Markunas suggested to keep the western frontage along Center Road with 
the most landscaping but maybe spread out the additional landscaping in the other areas of 
the site as previously discussed. 

Chair Schaeffer asked staff if there is any issue with complying with the maximum 
impervious surface coverage. 

Amanda Martinez replied no. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant if they are okay with paying the cash-in-lieu of 
constructing the required multi-use path along Center Road. 

7



Tim Wilkins replied yes. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the other commission members if there were any questions or 
comments regarding the proposed building architecture. 

Commissioner James asked the applicant if he wanted the new self-storage buildings to 
match the existing self-storage buildings. 

Tim Wilkins replied no. 

Amanda Martinez asked the commission members if they are okay with the proposed faux 
stone panels on the western building. 

There was consensus among the commission that this material was acceptable based on the 
type of use and zoning district. 

Tim Wilkins stated the material is actually real stone cut thin and applied as a veneer.  He 
stated that they can provide material samples. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the photometrics meet Village requirements.  She asked the 
other commission members if there were any questions or comments regarding the 
proposed lighting.  There were no comments from the commission. 

Amanda Martinez reiterated that staff requested a decorative base for the proposed light 
poles. 

Chair Schaeffer asked which light pole. 

Amanda Martinez stated all nine free-standing light poles. 

There was some discussion about the design of the light pole bases.  Staff will work with 
the applicant on an appropriate decorative light pole base. 

Chair Schaeffer asked staff about signage and whether or not it will comply with the 
Village requirements. 

Amanda Martinez explained the staff comments on the proposed free-standing sign as the 
current proposal does not meet Village requirements. 

Tim Wilkins stated that because Storage Express will manage the facility, they are going 
to completely change the sign that was provided in the agenda packet.  They are fine with 
making the revisions to address staff comments. 

Commissioner Markunas suggested that they work with staff on the signage comments. 

8



Chair Schaeffer asked if goose neck lighting is proposed on the signage. 

Tim Wilkins stated that he prefers ground lighting aimed upward at the sign as opposed to 
an internally illuminated sign. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that is what the commission prefers. 

Commissioner Morris asked what drives the business hours of operation. 

Tim Wilkins replied that the local market drives the decision on opening and closing hours.  
He added that for this location, which is close to many other small businesses, including 
contractors, the earlier opening hours allow those individuals to stop by their storage unit 
early enough in the day to be at their job site. 

Commissioner Morris asked about anticipated traffic to and from the facility. 

Tim Wilkins replied that they will not have a lot of traffic. 

Tim Wilkins stated that he prefers 5:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. hours of operation as opposed to 
7:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that she is comfortable with the Village’s standard 11:00 p.m. 
closing time as the closing time for this type of use. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the proposed hours are the gate locking hours. 

Tim Wilkins replied yes. 

Commissioner Morris asked if he was a customer who rented one of the units and he had 
to be there late, after the 11:00 closing hours, would he be able to get out. 

Tim Wilkins replied yes, he would be able to exit through a gate in the security fence. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant and his project engineer if they are comfortable with 
the tasks presented through the workshop discussion. 

Tim Wilkins and Jared Gingrich replied yes. 

C. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 

D. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the following projects were approved by the Village Board at its 
meeting on February 20, 2024: 

9



 
• Text Amendment for accessory structures (with the sliding scale maximum size for an 

accessory structure changed from 1,000 square feet to 500 square feet) 

E. Other Business 

There was no other business. 

F. Attendance Confirmation (March 7th, 2024) 

Chair Schaeffer asked Commissioners to please let staff know if someone cannot attend 
the next meeting.  Commissioner Jakubowski said she will not be able to attend the next 
meeting.  

Motion (#13): Adjournment 7:25 P.M. 

Motion by: Markunas                Seconded by: Jakubowski 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote (7-0). 

Approved March 7th, 2024 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Nichole Schaeffer, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 

10



Planning Commission / ZBA                                              S      March 7, 2024 

Project: Lanigan Residence  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: 7 Variations related to new single-family home and Plat of Subdivision 
Location: 219 Pacific Street 
Applicant: Linden Group Architects 
Prop. Owner: William & Donna Lanigan 
Representative: Grant Currier 
Staff Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 
Site Details 

Lot Size: 15,526 sq. ft.            Figure 1. Location Map    

PIN(s): 19-09-28-223-023-0000
Existing Zoning: R-2
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings / Lots: 1 house w/ attached garage 
Proposed house: 4,375 sq. ft. (gross living area) 
Proposed garage: 894 sq. ft. (attached) 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Project Summary 

William and Donna Lanigan purchased the vacant corner property at 219 Pacific Street to construct a new single-
family home with a gross living area of 4,375 square feet.  There was a former house on this property that was 
demolished in July 2022 but unfortunately, no plan or survey exists of the former house.  The proposed house 
would require 7 variations.  A Plat of Subdivision will also be required, since the parcel was never platted as a lot (it 
is currently metes & bounds).  The architect has described the style of the proposed house as “Midwestern 
Colonial with farmhouse and craftsman influence”.  The house would have a full basement.  Even though the 
property has the address of 219 Pacific Street, the side adjacent to Maple Street is shorter which technically makes 
it the front property line.  The seven (7) variations requested are:    

1. 1st Floor Building Materials (masonry required, mostly non-masonry proposed)
2. Front Yard Setback (Maple Street)
3. Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific Street Street)
4. Maximum Lot Coverage
5. Insufficient Lot Width (Zoning Ordinance)
6. Insufficient Lot Depth (Zoning Ordinance)
7. Insufficient Lot Width and Depth (Land Subdivision Regulations, Ord-921)

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property     Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

North Residential  Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

South  Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

East Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

West Residential Single-Family 
Attached 

R-4 

11



Attachments 
1. Location Map, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scale 1:1,000 
2. Downtown Boundary Map (excerpt from 2019 Comprehensive Plan) with subject property noted 
3. Downtown Residential Guidelines (Quick Checklist excerpt) 
4. Variation Findings of Fact, received 1.19.24 
5. Variation Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form 
6. PC/ZBA minutes of February 8, 2024 
7. Survey, received December 28, 2023 
8. Tree Survey, received February 26, 2024 
9. Plat of Subdivision, received 1.19.24 
10. Site Plan and Floor Plan, received 12.28.23 
11. Scaled building elevation drawings, in color, received March 1, 2024 
12. Colored rendering, illustrating “before and after” changes to the building exterior, received February 29, 2024 

    
Changes to Plans Since Workshop 
 
Since the PC/ZBA workshop on February 8th, the only changes to the plans have been to the building exterior.  The 
applicant has provided a “before and after” illustration of the changes.  These changes do not affect the variation 
requests.  Staff has summarized the changes:   
 

• The exterior colors were changed to a lighter “creamier” beige.  
• Two columns were removed from the front porch to open views.  The size of the porch columns was 

increased.  
• The stone base on the remaining four porch columns was lowered slightly.  
• The front door was equipped with 12” sidelights on either side, replacing the small stone windows on 

either side.  
• The depth of the second-floor window above the front porch was increased and encased in a framed 

cement board bump out.  
• A small metal roof was added above the garage window on the front façade.  
• Small bands of metal accent roofs were added above the garage on the south side of the house.  
• The height of the brick was increased on the west side of the garage.   

 
Analysis 
 

Summary of Variation Requests 

The seven variations requests can be summarized in the chart below:  

Variation Request Code Requirement Proposed House/Property 
1st Floor Building Materials Masonry Cement Board, some masonry 
Front Yard Setback (Maple) 30’ 22.6’ 
Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific) 30’ 24.9’ 
Maximum Lot Coverage 20% maximum (3,105 SF) 28.9% (4,487 SF) 
Lot Width 120’ (corner lot) 101.28’ 

Lot Depth 150’ 147.31’ 

Lot Width & Depth (Sub Ord-921) 120’ & 150’ Same as above 
 

 

 

12



Existing, Non-Conformities  

The existing parcel has several existing non-conforming features:   

1. The R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot width of 120’ for a corner property.  The lot width is 
measured along the front property line, which in this case is Maple Street.  The existing width of the 
property is 101.28’, requiring a variation.  

2. The R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot depth of 150’ for any property.  The lot width is measured 
along the corner side yard property line, which in this case is Pacific Street.  The existing width of the 
property is 147.31’, requiring a variation. 

3. The existing property does not have a 5’ wide sidewalk along Pacific Street.  As residential properties are 
developed, either new lots or existing lots, sidewalks are required to be installed within the right-of-way 
along street frontages.  The Village typically requires that a sidewalk be installed, or a cash-in-lieu 
payment be made to the Village.   

Variation requests, enumerated  

First Floor Building Materials:  
 
The Zoning Ordinance requires that all homes in the R-2 zone district be wrapped in masonry on all sides of the 1st 
floor.  The code official may permit up to 15% non-masonry materials for architectural accent features but certain 
materials are prohibited outright (plywood, vinyl, steel, aluminum).   
 

1. The proposed house mostly contains a mix of cement board siding, stone masonry and face brick.  
 

2. There are existing one-story homes to both the east and north of the subject property and both of them 
are full masonry (brick).  
 

3. There are a total of 23 houses that have frontage along Maple Street between Pacific Street and Kansas 
Street.  Of the 14 homes on the east side of Maple Street, 6 of them are full masonry (43%).  Of the 9 
homes on the west side of Maple Street, 3 are full masonry (33%).  
 

4. There are a total of 26 houses that have frontage along Pacific Street and are visible from Pacific Street 
between Maple Street and the dead-end.  Of the 8 homes on the north side of Pacific Street, 4 are full 
masonry (50%).  Of the 18 homes on the south side of Pacific Street, 8 are full masonry (44%).  

 
Front Yard Setback (Maple Street):   

The applicant is proposing a 22.6’ front yard setback for the new house, whereas 30’ is required.  The front 
yard setback is measured from the front property line along Maple Street to the unenclosed front porch.  Staff 
calculated the approximate setback for all homes along the east side of Maple Street, between Pacific Street 
and Nebraska Street (1,400’ +/-).  As per the chart below, the average setback of homes on the east side of 
Maple Street is approximately 28.3’.   The proposed house would be closer to the street than most homes 
along Maple Street.    

E. Side Maple Street (south to north) 
Address Street Approximate Setback 

235 Maple 28 
227 Maple 25 
221 Maple 30 
217 Maple 24 
215 Maple 27 

13



203 Maple 28 
230 Utah 37 
145 Maple 44 
133 Maple 26 
119 Maple 22 
117 Maple 26 
220 Nebraska 23 

      
Average   28.3 

 
Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific Street): 
 

The applicant is proposing a 24.9’ corner side yard setback for the new house, whereas 30’ is required.  The 
corner side yard setback is measured from the front property line along Pacific Street to the attached garage.  
Staff calculated the approximate setback for all homes along the north side of Pacific Street, between Maple 
Street and where it dead-ends (1,400’ +/-).  As per the chart below, the average setback of homes on the 
north side of Pacific Street is approximately 21.6’.  The proposed house would be further away from the street 
than most homes along Pacific Street.  

 

N. Side Pacific Street (west to east) 
Address Street Approximate Setback 

256 Walnut 30 
255 Walnut 26 
131 Pacific 4 
255 Hickory 12 
252 Oak 22 
255 Oak 13 
21 Pacific 30 
17 Pacific 36 
      

Average   21.6 
 
Maximum Lot Coverage:  
 
The proposed lot coverage for the new house would be 28.9% (4,487 SF), whereas 20% (3,105 SF) is the maximum 
allowed.  
 

1. There are no known surveys or site plans from the former house, which was demolished in 2022, making  
comparison impossible between the former house and the proposed house.  
 

2. Although lot coverage is a separate issue from impervious lot coverage, storm sewers exist along both 
Maple Street and Pacific Street.  Public Works will require that the basement sump pump be connected to 
the storm sewer.  Other drainage connections, such as roof gutters, are not required by Public Works.  
 
 
 
 

14



Minimum Lot Width:  
 
The existing parcel is not a subdivided lot and will require a Plat of Subdivision.  The resulting lot will be 
substandard for lot width for a corner lot in the R-2 zone district, requiring a variation.  The Zoning Ordinance 
requires that a corner lot be at least 120’ wide, whereas the proposed lot would be 101.28’ wide.   
 
Minimum Lot Depth: 
 
The resulting lot will be substandard for lot depth for a lot in the R-2 zone district, requiring a variation.  The 
Zoning Ordinance requires that a lot be at least 150’ deep, whereas the proposed lot would be 147.31’ deep.   

 
Land Subdivision Regulations (Ord-921):  
 
The Land Subdivision Regulations, section 9.5-1, notes that lot width and depth must conform to the Zoning 
Ordinance requirements.  The proposed lot would be deficient in both width and depth as noted above, but a 
separate variation is required from Ord-921, similar to the new home variation project for 99 N. White Street.  
 
Trees & Landscaping 

There are currently 2 trees on the existing property and 4 trees within the rights-of-way of Pacific and Maple.  The 
2 trees on the property would be removed.  According to a tree survey that was provided to staff, neither of the 
on-site trees are classified as preservation trees, and on-site mitigation will not be required.  The applicant is 
proposing to preserve all 4 parkway trees, as they are very mature and in fairly good condition.  The street tree 
furthest east within the right-of-way of Pacific Street is a Red Maple, which is classified as a preservation tree.   
 
Downtown Residential Design Guidelines (2019 Comp Plan) 
 
The site is located within the boundary of downtown, as illustrated in the Downtown Residential Design Guidelines 
(see attached map).    
 
The proposed site improvements employ some desirable elements as listed in the Downtown Frankfort Residential 
Design Guidelines of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan.  There are also proposed elements that do not meet the 
guidelines.  The “Quick Checklist” from these guidelines has been included with this report.  The identifier in the 
parenthesis signifies the page number within the guidelines.  
 
Meets Guidelines: 
 

• The house has multiple-pane windows. (B-2) 
• There is a well-defined entryway, with a covered front porch and columns. (B-2) 
• The primary entryway faces the public street. (B-8) 
• The proposed front setback would be about the same as those along Walnut Street. (B-4) 
• A variety of materials are used to create texture. (B-11) 
• The second floor is smaller than the first floor, softening the appearance (B-16) 

 
Does not meet Guidelines: 
 

• The garage is attached, not detached. (page B-1) 
• There are no roof dormers. (page B-2) 
• The driveway is not narrow. (B-2, B-13) 
• The house may be oversized for the lot at 4,375 SF (total living area, not including the porch).  The house 

to the north is 1,234 SF and the house to the east is 2,044 SF, both notably smaller. (B-2) 
• The house would be notably larger than other homes along both Pacific and Maple streets. (B-4) 
• The house does not adhere to a single, historical style from the late 1800s to early 1900s (Victorian, 

Colonial, Revival, Craftsman, American Foursquare).  (B-5 through B-7) 
• Predominantly non-masonry homes are preferable.  (B-11) 

15



 
Partial history of variations for downtown homes 
 
The subject property, as well as most of all single-family homes within the downtown, are zoned R-2, single-family 
residential.  There are a few homes in the downtown zoned H-1, R-3 and R-4.  The R-2 zone requirements are as 
follows:  
 

Standard (R-2) Requirement 
Lot Size  15,000 square feet 
Lot Width  100’ 
Lot Depth  150’ 
Front Yard Setback  30’ 
Side Yard Setback  At least 25’ total, not less than 10’ each side 
Rear Yard Setback  30’ 
Building Height  35’ 
Lot Coverage Max (%) 20% (25% for a one-story house) 
Impervious Coverage Max (%) 40% 

Driveway setback 5' (4' side loaded) 
Accessory structure setback 10’ from side or rear lot lines 

 
The following is a partial list of recent variations granted for homes in the downtown:  
 
213 Kansas (Kirsch) (PC review 1.24.19) 
Lot Size: 6,183 square feet 
Lot Width: 61.83’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 13.4' 
2. Side yard setbacks: of 10' and 10' 
3. Rear yard setback: 15.1' 
4. Lot coverage: 30% 
5. Driveway setback: 0.5' 
6. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
215 Kansas (Gallagher) (PC review 8.14.08) 
Lot Size: 4,950 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 38.3% (20% max permitted) 
2. First floor building materials for accessory structure (masonry required) 
3. Detached garage side yard setback: 0’ (10’ required) 

 
140 Walnut (McLean) (PC review 1.25.18) 
Lot Size: 6,275 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 125.5’ 
 

16



Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 15.67’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (10’ required) 
3. Lot coverage: 33.5% (20% max permitted) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
200 W. Nebraska (Leonard) (PC review 11.8.12) 
 
Lot Size: 7,000 square feet 
Lot Width: 70’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 34% (20% max permitted) 
2. Driveway setback: 0’ (5’ required) 
3. Detached garage setback: 0’ from south lot line, 4.1’ from west lot line (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage height: 21’ 4” (15’ max permitted) 

 
210 Walnut (Winters) (PC review 3.10.11) 
 
Lot Size: 11,044 square feet 
Lot Width: 90’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 19’ (30’ required) 
2. Building height: 36’ (35’ max permitted) 
3. Lot Coverage: 29% (20% max permitted) 
4. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
5. First floor building materials (masonry required) 
6. Accessory structure setback: 2’ to both north and west property lines (10’ required)  

 
23 W. Bowen Street (Gander) (PC review 8.22.13) 
 
Lot Size: 8,270 square feet 
Lot Width: 52’ 
Lot Depth: 172’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Side yard setback: 6.4’ (10’ required) 
2. Lot Coverage: 26% (20% max permitted) 
3. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 
5. Accessory structure setback from side property line: 5’ (10’ required) 

 
147 White Street (Lalley) (PC review 7.8.10) 
 
Lot Size: 21,484 square feet 
Lot Width: 130’ 
Lot Depth: 165’ 
 
Variation granted:  

17



 
1. Detached garage setback 6.5’ from side property line (10’ required) 

 
44 W. Bowen Street (Carroll/Watson) (PC review 8.12.10) 
 
Lot Size: 16,175 square feet 
Lot Width: 100’ 
Lot Depth: 160’ 
 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Accessory structure (shed) 0’ setback from rear property line (10’ required) 
 
140 Maple (Triezenberg) (PC review 9.8.16) 
 
Lot Size: 6,250 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Driveway setback 0’ (5’ required) 
 
143 Kansas Street (Brown) (PC review 3.25.21) 
 
Lot Size: 5,000 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 10’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (13’ required)  
3. Detached garage setback from rear property line: 0.5’ (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage setback from side property line: 2’ (10 required) 
5. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
6. Lot coverage: 41% (20% max permitted) 
7. Impervious lot coverage: 46% (40% max permitted) 
8. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
213 Nebraska Street (Plantz) (PC review 10.27.22) 
 
Lot Size: 6,687 square feet 
Lot Width: 67.5’ 
Lot Depth: 99’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front Yard Setback: 12’ 7” (30’ required) 
2. 1st Floor Building Materials (masonry required)  
3. Detached Garage Setback: 5’ 7” (10’ required) 
4. Rear Yard Coverage: 32% (30% maximum) 
5. Lot Coverage: 32.8% (20% maximum) 
6. Impervious Lot Coverage: 41.9% (40% maximum) 
7. Garage Height: 20’ 5 ½” (15’ maximum) 

 

18



108 Walnut Street (Sleeman) (PC review 9.14.23) 
 
Lot Size: 6.376 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front Yard Setback: 21.8’ (30’ required) 
2. Side Yard Setback (N): 8.5’ (10’ required) 
3. Side Yard Setback (S): 4.9’ (10’ required) 
4. Lot Coverage: 36.7% (20% max) 
5. Impervious Lot Coverage: 45.2% (40% max) 
6. 1st Floor Building Materials: Masonry required, wood composite proposed 

 
Affirmative Motions  
 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request for 1st floor building materials to allow 
non-masonry siding on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the reviewed 
plans, public testimony and findings of fact.    
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the required front yard 
setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 22.6’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.   
  

3. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the required corner side yard 
setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 24.9’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.    

 
4. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to exceed the maximum lot coverage to 

allow 28.9% instead of 20%, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.   

 
5. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the minimum lot width to 

101.28’ instead of 120’ for a corner property, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.  

 
6. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the minimum lot depth to 

147.31’ instead of 150’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.  

 
7. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation from Section 9.5-1 of the Village of Frankfort 

Land Subdivision Regulations to approve a Plat of Subdivision for a lot width and depth which do not 
conform to the requirements of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact. 

 
8. Recommend that the Village Board approve the Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision of 219 

Pacific Street Subdivision, subject to technical revisions prior to recording.  
 

 
 

19



UTAH ST

WA
LN

UT
 S

T

S M
AP

LE
 S

T HI
CK

OR
Y S

T

PACIFIC ST

UTAH ST

0 200 400100
Feet

µ

219 Pacific Street (variation requests)

20



Downtown Frankfort Boundary Map 

21

cgruba
Rectangle

cgruba
Callout
219 Pacific



B-4
YOUR FUTURE YOUR FRANKFORT

The Village of Frankfort | 2040 Comprehensive Plan

B | downtown residential design guidelines

QUICK CHECKLIST

The set of questions listed below are framed in such a way that if 
your answer is “yes” - it is likely that the design is on the right track 
towards contributing to the type of character and quality Frankfort 
seeks to maintain. The photos shown to the right are examples of 
residences that fulfill these design ideals. If the answer is not clear, 
or is questionable, you should look for ways to improve upon this 
design element.

Note: All new residential construction, building additions, and 
development in general must comply with the Zoning Ordi-
nance regulations including but not limited to setbacks, height, 
lot coverage, and building materials.

1.  Does the building architecture complement and fit the character of 
surrounding  structures - consider scale, setback, building height?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

2   Does the structure’s architecture delineate and highlight the 
primary entrance? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

3.   Are the proposed building materials consistent with the intended 
architectural style of the home and complementary to the 
materials utilized on the homes in the surrounding area?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

4.  Are simplified roof forms provided that are consistent with both 
the intended architectural style and roof forms of homes in the 
surrounding area? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

5.  Are there step-backs to the facade and / or architectural details that 
add depth and dimension, i.e. porches, bay windows?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

6.   Are there interesting architectural details and landscape 
treatments integrated on site that complement the residence?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

7.  Are the predominate facade colors / building materials of a 
natural color palette that is complementary to the homes in the 
surrounding area.

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

22



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 

the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and  
 
 
 
 
 
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
  
 
 
 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  
 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
 
 
 
 

This lot as platted is undersized lot by +- 14% compared to minimum lot dimensions 
per code.  The property in question was purchased by William and Donna Lanigan 
for the sole purpose of designing and building their own single family residence, to be 
occupied by themselves.  In order to meet their needs, reasonable minor variations 
to the adopted zoning code are hereby requested.

The Owner's desire to build a two story (4) Bedroom residence with unfinished 
Basement and attached Garage and hereby request reasonable minor variances to 
the adopted zoning code given the size of their corner lot as platted does not meet 
minimum Village size standards.

The variations if granted will not alter the essential character of this residential block. 
The architectural design and home's scale endeavor to compliment the neighborhood 
and follow the design intent of the Village's Residential Design Guidelines.  

This lot as platted is undersized lot by +- 14% compared to minimum R-2 corner lot 
dimensions per code.  The property was purchased for the sole purpose of designing 
and building a single family residence.  In order to meet Owners' needs and position 
the structure on the site, reasonable minor variations to the adopted zoning code are 
hereby requested.

2023-0196 
PROPOSED NEW 
RESIDENCE FOR 
WILLIAM AND DONNA 
LANIGAN  
LINDENGROUP 
ARCHITECTS 
2024-01-09

23

cgruba
Received



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

The conditions upon which this petition for variations apply would not specifically be 
applicable to other properties within the same zoning classification as this is a unique 
corner lot with site and Owner specific design considerations.

The Owner's have purchased this vacant property to build their dream home together 
and enjoy living in Frankfort for many years to come.  The size and layout of their 
proposed home is based on their needs and their needs alone.

The variances requested have not been created by any person or entity presently 
having an "interest" in the property.

The variations if granted will not be detrimental to the public's welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood. The design 
endeavors to compliment the neighborhood and follow the design intent of the 
Village's Residential Design Guidelines.  

The variations if granted will not alter the essential character of this residential block. 
The design intent is to compliment the neighborhood.  As presented, this is a quality 
design with significant architectural detailing and design sensitivity.

The variations if granted will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property 
or increase the danger of fire, or endanger the public safety or substantially diminish 
or impair property values within the neighborhood.

24



 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a 

reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 

or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

25



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 

26



feet west of I-57 (21-14-17-100-003-0000), conditioned upon the property owner 
dedicating right-of-way along both sides of Dralle Road for a potential future bridge over 
I-57, if feasible, and, that the owner shall request a Petition for Annexation, subject to 
Village Board consideration. 

Motion by: Morris   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (6-0)   

D. Workshop: 219 Pacific Street – Lanigan Residence 

Chris Gruba presented the staff report and mentioned that the Village’s Public Works 
Department is requesting extension of the sidewalk along Pacific Street along the frontage 
of the property.  He also summarized the seven Zoning Ordinance variation requests. 

The Project Architect, Grant Currier, approached the podium and distributed a packet of 
information including color building renderings.  He compared the previous house on the 
site to the proposed house.  He also provided a response to each variation being requested.  
He estimates that the proposed house exceeds 50% masonry on the exterior.  They are 
complimenting the brick with cement board siding and there is relief along the facades to 
break up the wall massing.  He added that there seems to be a little bit of contradiction 
between the Downtown Design Guidelines and the Comprehensive Plan Residential 
Design Guidelines.  Regarding the setback variation from Maple Street, he feels that closer 
a house is to the street, the house better relates to the street and is more pedestrian friendly.  
He illustrated that the entire neighborhood benefits from a variety of house setbacks rather 
than all of them aligning in a straight line.  Only a portion of the covered porch encroaches 
the required setback along Maple Street.  He also discovered that the street is not centered 
within the right-of-way.  Along Pacific Street, the design attempts to align the south façade 
of the house with the neighboring garage to the east.  For the request for a variation to 
exceed maximum lot coverage he stated that the property is uniquely- shaped and it is also 
a corner lot.  In looking at previous variations that were granted for other properties, this 
particular variation is actually less than eight of nine others on the list that staff included 
in the staff report. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the Commission can discuss each request one by one. 

Variation #1 - 1st Floor Building Materials (masonry required, mostly non-masonry 
proposed) 
 
For exterior materials there was consensus among the members that there was a good mix 
of materials. 

Variation #2 – Reduced Front Yard Setback (Maple Street) 
 

27

cgruba
Highlight



For the request to reduce the required front yard setback along Maple Street, Chair 
Schaeffer asked Chris Gruba about the setback being measured to the porch.  She thought 
that the setback measurement was to the front of the structure.   

Chris Gruba clarified the methodology for measuring the minimum 30-foot requirement 
per the Zoning Ordinance. 

Commissioner Markunas asked what the measurement would be from the front porch to 
the typical right-of-way. 

Chris Gruba responded and added that also there is no restriction on the homeowner 
potentially enclosing the porch in the future.   

The applicants stated that they have no intention of enclosing the proposed front porch. 

Variation #3 – Reduced Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific Street Street) 

Chair Schaeffer stated that she appreciated the attempt to align the house with the 
neighboring garage. 

Commissioner Markunas agreed with the Chair; There were no other comments from the 
other members. 

Variation #4 – Exceed Maximum Lot Coverage 

Chair Schaeffer stated that there is another house nearby that appears to be maxed out on 
lot coverage. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that he had no comment on this variation request. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that this is the only variation that gives him pause.  The 
applicants have a sufficiently sized lot and should be able to comply with the maximum 
20% requirement. 

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicants if they are aware of the lot coverage and impervious 
coverage requirements being two different things.  Are they aware of the need for 
compliance if they ever wanted to build a gazebo, etc.?  They would need to come back for 
any future variation request related to additional backyard improvements that exceed the 
maximum lot coverage and maximum impervious coverage. 

The applicant William Lanigan replied that they are only seeking consideration of the seven 
variation requests that are listed in the staff report tonight.   

Variation #5, #6, #7 – Insufficient Lot Width and Lot Depth 

28



Chair Schaeffer stated that Variations #5, #6, and #7 are all related.  She added that the 
proposed single-lot subdivision will clean this up.   

Chris Gruba explained that variations are required from both the Zoning Ordinance and the 
Land Subdivision Regulations as it pertains to lot width and lot depth. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if the sidewalk could jog to potentially save the tree which is to be 
removed. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked how big the tree is. 

The applicants stated that it is about 12 inches. 

Grant Currier stated that he begs to differ with Chris Gruba as far as the cash-in-lieu not 
being supported by the Public Works Department.  He stated that he spoke with Terry 
Kestel from the Public Works Department on January 5th and according to Terry he 
wouldn’t be opposed to accepting cash-in-lieu of the sidewalk construction along Pacific 
Street for this property. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that common sense says to allow cash-in-lieu and see what 
happens with other potential future sidewalk construction to the east.  The other members 
concurred with this recommendation to the Department of Public Works. 

Chair Schaeffer asked about the lot coverage again. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that he just can’t see a hardship argument with that 
variation request. 

Chair Schaeffer thanked the project architect and applicants and asked that they continue 
working with staff and the Department of Public Works. 

E. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 

F. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the following projects were approved by the Village Board at its 
meeting on February 5, 2024: 

 
• The building addition to the Olde Frankfort Mall was approved, including the Special 

Use Permit for the PUD, the Special Use Permit for a full-service restaurant with liquor 
sales for Tenant 01, a variation to waive all required off-street parking, a 
Preliminary/Final Plat of Resubdivision and Preliminary/Final Development Plan.  

29



30

cgruba
Received



31

cgruba
Received



32

cgruba
Received



33

cgruba
Received



RECEIVED 12.28.23

34



35



36



37



38

cgruba
Received



39

cgruba
Received



40

cgruba
Received



41



Planning Commission / ZBA                                               S      March 7, 2024 

Project: Bear Down Barbeque & Catering Company   
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing   
Request: Special Use Permit, full-service restaurant with liquor sales 
Location: 20857 & 20859 S. La Grange Road 
Applicant: Rashid Riggins 
Prop. Owner: Butera Center Management, Inc. 
Representative: Rashid Riggins 
Plan Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 

Site Details 

Lot Size: 10.58 Acres  Figure 1. Location Map    

PIN(s): 19-09-22-100-051-0000
Existing Zoning: B-2
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings: 3 
Total Sq. Ft. tenant: 2,063 SF (proposed) 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Commercial Commercial B-2 

North Commercial Commercial B-2/B-4 

South  Commercial Commercial B-2 

East Res. Townhomes Single-Family 
Attached 

Residential 

R-4 

West Commercial Commercial B-2 

Project Summary 

Bear Down Barbeque & Catering Company is an existing carry-out restaurant located in the southeast corner of the 
former Butera shopping plaza.  The applicant is proposing to expand their existing restaurant and transition to a 
full-service restaurant with liquor sales.  The existing tenant space at 20857 S. La Grange Road is 1,151 square feet 
and they would add 912 square feet from the adjacent tenant space at 20859 S. La Grange Road (formerly 
Computer Repair), for a total of 2,063 square feet.  The floor plan illustrates 13 tables, with 4 persons per table, for 
an assumed guest occupancy of 52 people.  There are no planned changes to the exterior of the building, nor is any 
outdoor seating proposed.  A bar seating area is not proposed.  

Attachments 
• Aerial photograph scale 1:2,000, prepared by staff GIS 
• Survey of property
• Floor plan provided by the architect, received March 1, 2024
• Findings of Fact for a Special Use Permit, completed by the applicant, received January 16, 2024
• Special Use Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form
• Parking analysis of Butera shopping plaza (existing & proposed regulations)
• Description of business and hours of operation, received via email February 29, 2024
• Current menu of Bear Down Barbeque & Catering Company (from website)

42



 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Parking:  
 
The Village is currently reviewing a Zoning Ordinance text amendment for parking requirements.  The Butera 
shopping plaza is technically deficient by 299 spaces per the existing requirements and would be deficient by 204 
spaces per the proposed regulations.  However, it’s generally accepted that this plaza is not deficient based on 
actual parking demand and could even be considered to have a surplus of parking.   
 
The existing parking regulations require 1 space for every 100 square feet of gross floor area, plus 1 for each 
employee.  The area, after the expansion, will be 2,063 square feet, requiring 21 parking spaces, plus employees.  
 
The Zoning Ordinance permits the Plan Commission to adjust the parking required in business and industrial 
districts on a case-by-case basis.  Given that a parking deficiency has not been noted at this plaza, and the fact the 
shopping center provides for 501 existing spaces that are shared parking among all tenants, staff recommends that 
the Plan Commission consider approving an adjustment to the to the required on-site parking from 21 spaces to 0 
spaces per Article 7, Section B, Part 5 (b) of the Zoning Ordinance as follows: 
 

“The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust parking requirements: 
 

1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. 
The petitioner shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the 
Plan Commission that the operation will require less parking than the Ordinance 
requires. 

 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written 
documentation to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared, or off-site 
parking spaces are available to satisfy the parking demand. 

 
a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either 
parking lots are large enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or 
that parking spaces will be shared at specific times of the day (shared parking, 
where one activity uses the spaces during daytime hours and another activity 
uses the spaces during evening hours.) 

 
b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the 
required parking and shall be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet 
from the principal use that it is intended to serve.” 

 
The applicant has not provided evidence or written documentation as noted above.  However, staff has performed 
a thorough parking analysis of this shopping plaza as part of the proposed parking requirements text amendment 
(attached).  
 
Liquor Sales: 
 
In an email to staff sent February 15, 2024, the applicant noted the following regarding liquor sales: “We will have 
a very small liquor option that will grow as time goes on to about a normal level of liquor options. To start we will 
just do beer and wine in prepackaged bottles, and simple drinks like whisky/rum & cokes, vodka and cranberry, and 
gin and orange juice. Our income will definitely be mostly from the meats, but we do look forward to it being 
supplemented by the adult beverages that our customers have been hoping we’d eventually get for years”.  The 
Zoning Ordinance’s definition of a full-service restaurant says that food sales “shall comprise a majority of all 
revenues generated by the business”.  If liquor comprises a majority of all revenues, the use will fall into the 
category of “tavern”.  Staff recommends adding this as a condition of approval, should the PC/ZBA recommend 
approval to the Board.   

43



 
Restroom Facilities: 
 
The Building Department has noted that the proposed full-service restaurant with liquor sales will require 1 
women’s toilet, 1 men’s toilet and 1 urinal per the IL State Plumbing Code.  The proposed restroom facilities 
comply with this requirement.    

 
Standards for Special Use 
 
No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  

 
c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  

 
e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Findings for Consideration 
 
The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals finds: 
 

1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property 
values within the neighborhood.  

 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood.  

44



 
5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Affirmative Motions 
 

1. Approve an adjustment to the minimum number of required parking spaces from 21 spaces to 0 
spaces to allow the existing 501 parking spaces on the property to serve the existing businesses and 
the proposed expanded restaurant; 
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a full-service restaurant with 
liquor sales on the property located at 20857 and 20859 S. La Grange Road (total 2,063 square feet), 
in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact, conditioned upon final 
engineering and that food sales shall comprise the majority of all revenues generated by the business.  

 

45



S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

E COLORADO AVE

MARKET ST

W BANKVIEW DR

ASHLEYCT

W COLORADO AVE

CA
RD

IN
AL

 C
T

0 250 500125
Feet

µ
20857 S. La Grange - Bear Down BBQ

46



47

cgruba
Received

cgruba
Rectangle



48

cgruba
Received



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use permit request. The Plan Commission must 
make the following seven findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist the Plan Commission in 
their review of the special use permit request(s), please provide responses to the following “Findings of 
Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
  
 
 
 
 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 

We believe that the establishment, maintenance, and operation of our full-service 
restaurant with accessory liquor sales will not be detrimental to, or endanger, the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. Our business has a history 
of providing high-quality food and service, and we are committed to maintaining a 
safe and welcoming environment.

We assert that our special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other 
properties in the immediate vicinity, nor will it substantially diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood. We aim to enhance the local dining scene 
and contribute positively to the community.

We are confident that the establishment of our full-service restaurant will not impede 
the normal and orderly development and improvement of the surrounding property 
for uses permitted in the district.

The exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of our proposed structure have 
been carefully designed to harmonize with the structures already constructed or in 
the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood. We believe this will not 
cause substantial depreciation in property values within the neighborhood.

49



5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

 
 
 
 
 
6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

 

 

 

7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
 

Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and necessary facilities have been and 
will continue to be provided to support our expanded business operations.

We have taken and will continue to take adequate measures to provide ingress and 
egress designed to minimize traffic congestion in public streets, ensuring a smooth 
flow of traffic in the vicinity.

We assure you that our special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the 
applicable regulations of the district in which it is located. Any necessary modifications 
will be made in accordance with the recommendations of the Plan Commission and 
the approval of the Village Board.

50



 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

51



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

52



BUTERA CENTER EXISTING REGULATIONS
Address Tenant Use Area Requirement Estimated employees Parking Req'd
20883 Plaza Cleaner Dry Cleaner 4200 1 per 200 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 5 26
20855/101 Be Well Chiropractic Health Office 1000 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 5 11
20855/200 Mind and Health Health Office 757 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 3 6
20855/202 Personal Solutions Health Office 1425 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 3 12
20855/208 Personal Solutions Health Office 1286 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 3 12
20855/209 Personal Solutions Health Office 1188 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 3 12
20871 Facen 4ward Indoor Entertainment 1400 1 per 4 pple max occupancy + 1 ea. employee 3 19
20861 Crisis Rooms Indoor Entertainment 4200 1 per 4 pple max occupancy + 1 ea. employee 3 21
20855/205 Lydia Hodges/ Doorway 11 Massage 2400 1 per 200 GFA + 1 ea. employee 3 15
20873 M R Gold & Silver Retail 1400 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 8
20821 Bargain Mania Retail 39348 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 10 168
20815 Tiny Tots Indoor Recreation 4186 1 per 4 pple max occupancy + 1 ea. employee 3 30
20855/100 VACANT Retail (assumed) 1150 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 7
20855/103 VACANT Retail (assumed) 525 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 1 4
20855/105 VACANT Retail (assumed) 2058 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 11
20875 Lincoln Travel Office 1400 1 per 200 GFA 7
20855/102 VACANT Retail (assumed) 2300 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 12
20855/104 VACANT Retail (assumed) 432 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 1 3
20855/201 VACANT Retail (assumed) 1275 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 8
20879 Salt Cave Personal Services 4200 1 per 200 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 3 24
20867 Barber Shop Personal Services 900 1 per 200 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 2 7
20887 Jeff Lamorte Personal Services 6000 1 per 200 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 10 40
20863 Frankfort Computer Repair Repair Services 900 1 per 400 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 3 6
20893 Subway Restaurant 1750 1 per 75 GFA, + 0.5 per ea. employee 4 26
20857 Bear Down BBQ Restaurant 1200 1 per 75 GFA, + 0.5 per ea. employee 3 18
20831 Amigo Mexican Restaurant 2800 1 per 100 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 5 33
20829 Chef Klaus Restaurant 6400 1 per 100 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 10 74
20805 Social 45 Restaurant 8710 1 per 100 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 8 96
20811 Starbucks Restaurant 2800 1 per 75 GFA, + 0.5 per ea. employee 6 41
20887 Red Dresser Retail 4555 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 21
20869 Vibe Nutrition Retail 1400 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 8
20833 US Tobacco Retail 2800 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 14

800
501
299

Total Required
Total Available
Deficient

53



BUTERA CENTER PROPOSED REGULATIONS
Address Tenant Use Area Requirement Estimated employees Parking Req'd
20883 Plaza Cleaner Dry Cleaner 4200 1 per 200 GFA 5 21
20855/101 Be Well Chiropractic Health Office 1000 1 per 250 GFA  5 4
20855/200 Mind and Health Health Office 757 1 per 250 GFA  3 3
20855/202 Personal Solutions Health Office 1425 1 per 250 GFA  3 6
20855/208 Personal Solutions Health Office 1286 1 per 250 GFA  3 6
20855/209 Personal Solutions Health Office 1188 1 per 250 GFA  3 5
20871 Facen 4ward Indoor Entertainment 1400 1 per 200 GFA 3 7
20861 Crisis Rooms Indoor Entertainment 4200 1 per 200 GFA 3 21
20855/205 Lydia Hodges/ Doorway 11 Massage 2400 1 per 240 GFA 3 10
20873 M R Gold & Silver Retail 1400 1 per 250 GFA  2 6
20821 Bargain Mania Retail 39348 1 per 250 GFA  10 158
20815 Tiny Tots Indoor Recreation 4186 1 per 200 GFA 3 21
20855/100 VACANT Unknown 1150 1 per 100 GFA 2 12
20855/103 VACANT Unknown 525 1 per 100 GFA 1 6
20855/105 VACANT Unknown 2058 1 per 100 GFA 2 21
20875 Lincoln Travel Office 1400 1 per 300 GFA 5
20855/102 VACANT Unknown 2300 1 per 100 GFA 2 23
20855/104 VACANT Unknown 432 1 per 100 GFA 1 5
20855/201 VACANT Unknown 1275 1 per 100 GFA 2 13
20879 Salt Cave Personal Services 4200 1 per 240 GFA 3 18
20867 Barber Shop Personal Services 900 1 per 240 GFA 2 4
20887 Jeff Lamorte Personal Services 6000 1 per 240 GFA 10 25
20863 Frankfort Computer Repair Repair Services 900 1 per 400 GFA 3 3
20893 Subway Restaurant (carry out) 1750 1 per 100 GFA 4 18
20857 Bear Down BBQ Restaurant (carry out) 1200 1 per 100 GFA 3 12
20831 Amigo Mexican Restaurant (carry out) 2800 1 per 100 GFA 5 28
20829 Chef Klaus  Restaurant (full service) 6400 1 per 85 GFA 10 76
20805 Social 45 Restaurant (full service) 8710 1 per 85 GFA 8 103
20811 Starbucks Restaurant (carry out) 2800 1 per 100 GFA 6 28
20887 Red Dresser Retail 4555 1 per 250 GFA  2 19
20869 Vibe Nutrition Retail 1400 1 per 250 GFA  2 6
20833 US Tobacco Retail 2800 1 per 250 GFA  2 12

705
501
204

Total Required
Total Available
Deficient

54



From: Rashid Riggins
To: Chris Gruba
Subject: Re: Bear Down BBQ
Date: Thursday, February 29, 2024 2:22:59 PM

Our barbecue company was created by a chef who is passionate
about many of the different world cuisines, but the methodology of
cooking foods with nothing more than wood, smoke and fire, in an
old world traditional fashion is what inspired his true calling to
become a Pitmaster!  

We pride ourselves on being an authentic Smoke House. We create
each and every rub (spice blend), marinade, and barbecue sauce
from scratch with love in our very own kitchen. The same thing goes
for our side dishes. Everything on our menu is created using high
quality, all natural ingredients, and premium cuts of meat. 

We really do work very hard to do things the right way, by matching
each cut of meat with the right choice of smoke, rub, marinade,
sauce, and cooking/smoking method. Our customer’s health is very
important, so we don’t unnecessarily add extra butters, syrups, and
sugars to our meats; just traditionally prepared, authentic smoky
meat, that’s perfectly seasoned. 

Our attention to detail definitely creates a lot more work for us, but
the value we place on our customers overall satisfaction with our
product makes it all worth it. Our customers are extremely important
to us, and we will always go out of our way to make them happy!

Pulled description from website.

Hours will be Tuesday - Saturday from 11-9pm

Rashid Riggins
Proprietor & Pitmaster
Bear Down Barbecue & Catering Co.
20857 S. Lagrange Rd.
Frankfort, IL 60423
www.beardownbarbecue.com
www.facebook.com/beardownbarbecue

55

mailto:beardownbarbecue@gmail.com
mailto:cgruba@frankfortil.org
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/yFMNCzpogmsPvqoIBCbZ2?domain=beardownbarbecue.com
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/1TWfCADxEnTmMOAUOjl43?domain=facebook.com


LUNCH SPECIALS (TUES.- FRI. 11AM-3:30PM) 

ALL SPECIALS INCLUDE A SIDE AND BEVERAGE 

1. PULLED PORK SANDWICH                   $8 

2. PULLED CHICKEN SANDWICH             $8 

3. PORK RIB TIPS                                       $10 

4. GRILLED BURGER                                 $10 

5. CHICKEN TIPS                                        $11 

6. HOT LINKS                                              $11 

7. ANGUS BEEF BRISKET SANDWICH.    $12 

8. PORK SPARE RIBS                                 $12 

LUNCH SPECIAL SIDE OPTIONS: 

1. POT. SALAD / FRIES / C. SLAW / SPICY GREEN BEANS + $0.00 

2. COWBOY BEANS/ MAC-N-CHEESE              + $1 

3. SEASONED FRIES/ ONION RINGS                + $.50 

COMBO'S 
1. RIB & BRISKET W/FRIES                                    $26 
2. TIPS & BRISKET W/FRIES                                  $24 
3. TURKEY BREAST & BRISKET W/FRIES            $27 
4. RIB & LINK W/FRIES                                           $20 
5. TIP & LINK W/ FRIES                                           $18 
6. RIB & FRIES                        SM. $12 REG. $21 LG. $33 
7. TIP & FRIES                         SM. $10 REG. $17 LG. $27 
8. CHICKEN TIP & FRIES        SM. $11 REG. $19 LG. $30 
9. HOT LINKS W/FRIES           SM. $11 REG. $19 LG. $30 
10. BURGER W/FRIES                                              $10 
11. CHICKEN TENDERS W/FRIES                           $8 
12. FRIED CHICKEN SAND. W/FRIES                     $10 

13. 6PC CRISPY BUFFALO WINGS W/FRIES         $12 
14. PIZZA PUFF W/FRIES                                         $8 

15. BEEF DEEP FRIED POLISH 

W/GRILLED ONIONS & SAUCE W/FRIES               $8 

16. SMOKED ANGUS BRISKET CHEESESTEAK 

W/FRIES                                                                    $23 

LUNCH SPECIAL 
 

(TUES.- SAT. FROM 11am to 3PM) 

PULLED PORK OR PULLED CHICKEN  

SANDWICH W/FRY & DRINK                                    $10 

CHOOSE PULLED BRISKET:                                    $14 

COLE SLAW TOPPING:                                           + $1            
 

SANDWICHES 
1. PULLED PORK                                                SM. $5 REG. $8 
2. PULLED CHICKEN                                          SM. $5 REG. $8 
3. PULLED BRISKET                                           SM. $9 REG. $12 
4. GRILLED BURGER                                          $7 
5. GRILLED BURGER TOPPED W/BACON & PULLED PORK $12 

56



6. WILD CAUGHT SALMON SANDWICH            $12 
7. FRIED CHICKEN SANDWICH                          $7 
8. TURKEY BURGER                                            $7 
9. CORKSCREW CUT JUMBO BEEF HOTDOG  $4 W/SLAW: $6 
10. 1LB MEGA BURGER           $20   W/BRISKET $27 W/BACON $22 

11. BEEF DEEP FRIED POLISH 

W/GRILLED ONIONS & SAUCE                             $5 

12. SMOKED ANGUS BRISKET CHEESESTEAK  $20 

MEATS BY THE POUND 
1. BRISKET                                                   $28 
2. TURKEY BREAST                                     $20 
3. SPARE RIBS                                              $18 
4. PULLED PORK                                          $16 
5. PULLED CHICKEN                                    $16 
6. HOT LINKS                                                $16 
7. CHICKEN TIPS                                          $16 
8. PORK TIPS                                                $14 

SIDES 
1. MAC-N-CHEESE                          SM. $4.50 LG. $9.00 
2. COWBOY BEANS                         SM. $4.50 LG. $9.00 
3. SPICY GREEN BEANS                 SM. 3.50  LG. $7.00 
4. POTATO SALAD                            SM. 3.50 LG. $7.00 
5. COLE SLAW                                  SM. $3.50 LG. $7.00 
6. FRESH CUT FRIES                       SM. $3.00 LG. $6.00 

7. ONION RINGS                               SM. $3.50 LG. $6.50 
7. F. CUT SEASONED FRIES            SM. $3.50 LG. 6.50 
8. PITMASTER CUT STEAK FRIES   SM. $5.00 LG. $10.00 
9. P. CUT SEASONED STEAK FRY.   SM. 5.50 LG. 10.50 

DESSERTS 
1. PIE OF THE DAY                            SLICE $5 
2. CAKE OF THE DAY                        SLICE $5 
3. BANANA PUDDING                        SLICE $5 

SPECIALTY ITEMS 
1. MAC-N-CHEESE W/PORK OR CHICKEN $12 W/BRISKET $17 
2. BBQ SUNDAE (BEANS, MEAT, SLAW & SAUCE IN 16OZ CUP)  
    CHICKEN OR PORK                                      $12 
    BRISKET                                                         $14 

3. BRISKET & MAC-N-CHEESE SANDWICH    $15 
 

LIMITED TIME 

1. SMOKED PULLED PORK OR SMOKED 

PULLED CHICKEN EGG ROLLS                      $3 EACH 
 
 
 
 
 

57



 
 

58



                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA       March 7, 2024 

 
 
Project: Magic Massage LLC  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: Special Use for Massage Establishment 
Location: 19989 S. La Grange Road    
Applicant:  Sarah Hui (Jiahui Cai) 
Prop. Owner: Flosscom Hickory LLC 
Consultant: None 
Representative: Applicant 
Report By:  Amanda Martinez, Planner 
 

Site Details 
 
Lot Size: 4.75 acres                                Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN: 19-09-15-101-006-0000 
Existing Zoning:  B-3/General Business District  
Proposed Zoning: B-3/General Business District, with a Special Use 

Permit for a Massage Establishment 
Buildings / Lots: 1 building / 1 lot (just south of Emagine) 
Total Sq. Ft.: 1,440 sq. ft. (tenant space) 
  
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 
Subject 

Property 
Commercial General 

Commercial 
B-3 

North Commercial General 
Commercial 

B-3 

South Commercial General 
Commercial 

B-3 

East      Detention Pond Environment 
Conservation 

R-4 

West Commercial General 
Commercial 

B-3 
 

 
Project Summary  
Sarah Hui (Jiahui Cai), the applicant/tenant, on behalf of Flosscom Hickory LLC, property owner, has filed an 
application for a Special Use Permit to operate Magic Massage LLC located at 19989 S. La Grange Road, Frankfort, 
Illinois 60423 (PIN 19-09-15-101-006-0000). Per the Village Zoning Ordinance, to operate a massage establishment 
in the B-3 General Business District, a special use permit is required.  
 

Attachments 
• Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
• Site Photographs taken 3.1.24 
• Plat of Survey dated 3.22.16 
• Floor Plan received 2.12.24 
• Business Operation Letter received 2.2.24 

59



• Zoning Ordinance Article 5, Section C, Part 11.1, Use Regulations for Massage Establishments with 
Applicant Responses received 2.4.24 

• Special Use Permit Findings of Fact Form with Applicant Responses received 2.2.24 
• Special Use Permit Findings of Fact Form for Plan Commissioners  

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

Proposed Use 

• The applicant is seeking a special use permit to operate the business known as Magic Massage LLC located 
at 19989 S. La Grange Road.  

• The subject property is a 4.75-acre lot (located in the Hickory Creek Marketplace, just south of Emagine) 
that has tenant spaces that are addressed 19973-19991 S. La Grange Road. 

• The subject tenant space is approximately 1,440 square feet (roughly 18’x80’). The Hickory Creek 
Marketplace Plaza has ±46,000 square feet of in-line retail shops both north and south of the theater. 

• Existing uses within the plaza include general retail, personal service, indoor entertainment (Emagine), 
fast-food, and full-service restaurants. 

• The applicant does not have any other existing locations for the newly created LLC named Magic Massage 
LLC. The applicant/business owner provided staff with her licensed massage therapist certificate.   

• The business plans operate every day by appointments and walk-ins with the proposed hours of operation 
of 10:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m.  

• Per the business operation letter, the business plans to offer the following massage options: 
o Swedish Massage 
o Deep Tissue Massage 
o Thai Massage 
o Couples Massage 
o Prenatal Massage 

• Per the submitted floor plan, once patrons enter the business, there will be a front desk and sofas. There 
will be a 5’4” wide hallway that will lead to the massage rooms. 

• Per the submitted floor plan, the applicant is proposing 5 massage therapy rooms. One of the massage 
rooms will be 7’x12’5”, two of the massage rooms will be 8’x12’5”, and two of the massage rooms will be 
10’x12’5”. 

• To ensure that the massage rooms are well-lit, the applicant stated that the massage room walls will go 
75% up to the ceiling, which complies with Article 5, Section C, Part 11 use regulations for Massage 
Establishments. 

• Per the submitted floor plan, the applicant proposes two dressing rooms and a shower cubicle in the rear 
of the tenant space, just behind the massage rooms. There is an employee area in the rear of the tenant 
space that will house the laundry machines and utility sink. There is one bathroom in the rear of the 
tenant space for patrons and employees to use.  

• Zoning Ordinance Article 5, Section C, Part 11 regards use regulations for Massage Establishments 
(attached). Per staff’s request the applicant has provided responses to the regulations. The floor plan is 
also provided for reference. These regulations will get further reviewed by the Building Department prior 
to the issuance of a business license. 
 

Existing Parking 

• The Hickory Creek Marketplace Plaza parking lot currently provides 558 parking spaces (255 spaces 
located in front of Emagine, 136 spaces north of Emagine, and 167 spaces south of Emagine). The 558 
parking spaces are shared amongst the tenants in the plaza (excluding outlots).   

• According to Ordinance 1654, there is an existing cross-access and parking agreement (R98-100594) with 
the adjacent parcels located within the Hickory Creet Marketplace Plaza.  

• Per the submitted floor plan, there are 5 massage rooms. Staff typically would assume that there is at 
least one employee for each proposed massage room. The applicant stated that they would only have 1-2 
employees at the start of their business operation for a soft opening.  

60



• The proposed use is most closely associated with a “personal service” which the Zoning Code requires one 
(1) space per 200 square feet of gross floor area; plus, one (1) space per employee for the work shift with 
the largest number of employees. The subject tenant space is 1,440 square feet and will have up to 5 
employees, equating to 13 required parking spaces. Staff notes that if only 2 employees were to be 
considered, 10 parking spaces would be required.  

• Article 7 Section B Part 5 recognizes that parking requirements may be adjusted by the Plan Commission 
on a case-by-case basis when shared parking opportunities are present.   
 
“Adjustments. In all business and industrial districts, the minimum number of required parking spaces may 
be adjusted by the Plan Commission on a case-by-case basis. The petitioner for such an adjustment shall 
show to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that adequate parking will be provided for customers, 
clients, visitors, and employees. The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust 
parking requirements:  
 

1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. The 
petitioner shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the Plan 
Commission that the operation will require less parking than the Ordinance requires.  

 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written 
documentation to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared or off-site parking 
spaces are available to satisfy the parking demand.” 

 
• Provided parking is sufficient and complies with the Village Ordinance’s off-street parking requirements 

for the mix of existing uses and the proposed massage establishment use. Staff’s parking analysis for the 
subject site is shown below (the proposed massage establishment use is bolded): 
 

ADDRESS 
BUSINESS NAME 

(USE CLASSIFICATION 
FOR PARKING) 

UNIT 
(SQ. FT.) 

PARKING SPACES REQUIRED 
(USE PARKING CALCULATION) 

19917-19933 
Goodwill  
(general retail) 

20827 
94 

(1 per 250 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 
employee) 

19965 Emagine 
(auditoriums, theaters 
and other places of 
assembly) 

75164 
(1,330 
seats) 

332 
(1 per 4 patrons based on maximum 

capacity) 

19973 Vacant 
(general retail) 

1280 6 
(1 per 250 sq. ft.) 

19975 Pearle Vision 
(health clinic/office) 

1280 15 
(3 per exam room; plus 1 per 

employee)  
19977 Vacant 

(general retail) 
1600 7 

(1 per 250 sq. ft.) 
19979 Great Clips 

(personal service) 
1200 11 

(1 per 200 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 
employee) 

19981A LA TAN 
(personal service) 

2000 15 
(1 per 200 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 

employee) 
19981B La Bella Uniforms 

(general retail) 
2000 13 

(1 per 250 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 

61



employee) 
19983 Hallmark 

(general retail) 
5000 25 

(1 per 250 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 
employee) 

19985  La Michoacana 
(fast-food) 

1372 21 
(1 per 75 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 2 

employees) 
19987 Vacant 

(general retail) 
1440 6 

(1 per 250 sq. ft.) 
19989  Magic Massage  

(massage 
establishment) 

1440 13 
(1 per 200 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 

employee) 
19991 Distinctive Gold 

Jewelry 
(general retail) 

3040 17 
(1 per 250 sq. ft.; plus 1 per 

employee) 
TOTAL REQUIRED  575 

TOTAL PROVIDED ON-SITE 558 
*Surplus/Deficit *-17 

*Staff notes that the pending parking text amendment would consider this a surplus, not a deficiency.  
 

Standards for Special Uses 
 
Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan 
Commission must use to evaluate every special use request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan 
Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 
 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  
 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 
for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood.  
 
c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 
d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at variance 
with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already constructed, or in the 
course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the applicable district, as to cause a 
substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 
e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being provided.  
 
f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize 
traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 
g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is 
located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission.  
 
Affirmative Motion 
 

62



For the Plan Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following proposed affirmative motion for the 
special use request:  

1. Approve an adjustment to the minimum number of required parking spaces to allow the existing 558 
parking spaces in the subject plaza to serve the existing businesses and the proposed massage 
establishment; and 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for a Massage Establishment to permit the 
operation of a Massage Establishment in the B-3 Community Business District for the property located at 
19989 S. La Grange Rd., Frankfort, Illinois 60423 (PIN 19-09-15-101-006-0000), in accordance with the 
submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, subject to the following two conditions:   
 
1. The applicant shall obtain a Business License. 
2. The applicant shall comply with Zoning Ordinance Article 5, Section C, Part 11.1, Use Regulations for 

Massage Establishments. 

63



Notes

19989 S. La Grange Rd.

Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic Information System has been produced and processed 
from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This 
disclaimer applies to both isolated and aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, express or 
implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement 
of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you 
have obtained information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered subsequent to original distribution. Data 
can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any 
questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Miles0.1

Legend

1: 2,257WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere
0 0.04

Address Points
Parcels
Townships

64



Site Visit Photos Taken on 3.1.24 

 

 

65



66



67



68



 

69



70



71



72



73



74



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use permit request. The Plan Commission must 
make the following seven findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist the Plan Commission in 
their review of the special use permit request(s), please provide responses to the following “Findings of 
Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
  
 
 
 
 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 

Yes I agree, and promise the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental or endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare 

Yes I agree, and promise that the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other 
property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially dismiss and 
impair property values within the neighborhood. 

Yes I agree, and promise the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and 
orderly development and improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the 
district.

Yes I agree, and promise the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure 
will not be so at variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the 
character of the applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within 
the neighborhood.

75



5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

 
 
 
 
 
6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

 

 

 

7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
 

Yes I agree, and promise the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary 
facilities have been or are being provided.

Yes I agree, and promise the adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide 
ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.

Yes I agree, and promise the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable 
regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be 
modified by the Village Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.

76



 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

77



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

78



                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                                                                                   S                                          March 7, 2024 

 
Project: Blocker Residence  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Request: Two (2) Variations pertaining to siding and roof material for a proposed single-family home 
Location: Lot B in the Aurthur T. McIntosh and Company’s Kean Avenue, S. 95th Ave. 
Applicant:  Jarrett Lecas (Gander Builders)  
Prop. Owner:  Stephen and Monica Blocker 
Representative: Jarrett Lecas 
 
Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 49,937 sq. ft. (1.14 acres)                             Figure 1. Location Map     
PIN: 19-09-22-300-025-0000 
Existing Zoning:  R-2   
Proposed Zoning: R-2 
Buildings / Lots: 1 building / 1 lot 
Total Sq. Ft.: 4,388 sq. ft. (GFA of proposed house) 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 
Project Summary 
 

The applicant, Jarrett Lecas from Gander Builders, representing Stephen and Monica Blocker, property owners, is 
proposing to construct a 4,389 square foot single-family house on the 1.14-acre Lot B in the Aurthur T. McIntosh 
and Company’s Kean Avenue Estates also commonly known as Vacant, S. 95th Ave., Frankfort, Illinois (PIN: 19-09-
22-300-025-0000). The subject property currently sits vacant and undeveloped. The applicant is requesting a 
variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(g)(2) and Article 6, Section B, Part 4(i) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 
Ordinance to permit the use of non-masonry siding on the first floor of a home and a variation and to permit a 
metal roof on the home located in the R-2, Single Family Residential District.  
 
Attachments 

 
1. Aerial Image from Will County GIS 
2. Plat of Survey dated 1.11.24 
3. Site Visit Photographs taken 3.1.24 
4. Color renderings received 2.13.24 
5. Site Plan received 2.26.24 
6. Architectural Plans dated 2.8.24 
7. Siding Specifications received 2.28.24 
8. Masonry Inventory Exhibit last updated 3.1.24 
9. Variations Findings of Fact Form with Applicant Responses received 2.26.24 
10. Variations Findings of Fact Form for Commissioners 

    

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property     Residential Single-Family R-2 

North Residential  Single-Family R-2 

South  Residential Single-Family R-2 

East Residential Single-Family R-2 

West Residential Single-Family H-1 

79



Analysis 
 

Staff offers the following points for discussion:  

General 

1. The proposed attached 4 car garage is a side-loaded garage and is approximately 25’9”x44’9”. The 
proposed driveway width is 44’ which is compliant with the requirement that states that the width of a 
driveway cannot exceed the width of a garage.  

2. Staff requested that the applicant revise the proposed garage doors to meet the requirement that garage 
doors must have at least two architectural features (Article 6 Section B Part 4(h)). Staff is working with the 
applicant to provide an additional architectural feature that would be acceptable to the Village Code 
Official; the applicant will be revising the architectural plans to note that decorative hardware/handles 
will be placed on the garage doors. 

3. The Zoning Ordinance limits the maximum lot coverage to 20% for two-story homes in the R-2 single-
family district.  The proposed house (with attached garage) amounts to 3,730 square feet of lot coverage, 
which is approximately 7.5% of the subject lot. The proposed 7.5% lot coverage is compliant with the 
required 20% maximum lot coverage.   

4. The Zoning Ordinance limits the maximum impervious surface coverage to 40% in the R-2 single-family 
district.  The proposed house (with attached garage), porches, driveway, swimming pool, and swimming 
pool apron amount to 11,141 square feet of impervious surface coverage, which is approximately 22.3% 
of the subject lot. The proposed 22.3% impervious surface coverage is compliant with the required 40% 
maximum impervious surface coverage.   

5. Staff requested a tree preservation plan. The applicant submitted the site plan depicting existing trees on 
the subject site; the applicant clarified that all the trees shown on the site plan are to be preserved. 

6. The Zoning Ordinance states that all development in the R-2 single-family district requires a minimum lot 
size of 15,000 square feet, 100’ width and 150’ depth. The existing lot and proposed house conform with 
these requirements (see below table of dimensional requirements).  Additionally, the proposed pool and 
fence (aluminum and 5’ high) comply with all required setbacks in the R-2 single-family district. 

 

 R-2 Single-Family 
Detached Residential 
District Requirement 

 
Subject Property 

 
Comments 

Minimum Lot Size  15,000 SF 49,937 SF Complies 
Minimum Lot Width 100’ 107’ Complies 
Minimum Lot Depth 150’ 466.2’ Complies 
Minimum Required Yards 
(Setbacks) 

• 30’ (front yard) 
• Total 25’; min. 10’ 

on either side 
(interior side yard) 

• 30’ (rear yard) 

• 158.4’ (front yard) 
• 15.6’ (north interior 

side yard) 
• 13.2’ (south interior 

side yard) 
• 214.4’ (rear) 

• Complies 
(similar to 320 
S. 95th Ave.) 

• Complies 
• Complies 
• Complies 

Maximum Height 35’ 30’ 6.25” Complies 
Maximum Lot Coverage 20% (for a two-story 

house) 
7.5% (3,730 SF)  Complies 

Maximum Impervious 
Coverage 

40% 22.3% Complies 

Maximum Rear Yard  30% 0% (no structure Complies 

80



Coverage proposed in the required 
rear yard) 

Minimum Gross Floor Area  2,600 SF (for a two-
story) 

4,388 SF Complies 

Minimum Basement Size 80% of the ground floor  95.14% Complies 
 

Siding Material  

7. Article 6, Section B, Part 2 (g)(2) of the Zoning Ordinance requires the 1st floor building material to be 
entirely constructed of masonry and requires a minimum of two (2) masonry elements that extend from 
the first floor into the second floor.  

8. The surrounding properties seem to comply with the current zoning ordinance first-floor masonry 
requirement (see the attached masonry inventory). The property to the north consists of brick masonry 
siding on the first floor, the property to the east consists of brick masonry siding on the first floor, the 
property to the south is vacant, and the property to the west consists of vinyl siding (non-conforming, 
predates the current zoning ordinance).  

9. Staff notes that a similar variation request to permit non-masonry siding for a house located at 320 95th 
Avenue (the second house north of the subject site) was approved in 2018. The house at this location was 
proposed with a 3’ masonry knee wall and composite siding (Hardie Board, LP Smart Side, etc.). 

10. The applicant proposes the house with mostly a tongue and groove cedar siding material that resembles 
natural wood and is manufactured by Delta Millworks (the applicant will bring samples to the meeting). 
The submitted architectural plans state that the color of the siding is to be determined; the applicant 
stated that the color will closely match the colored renderings.  

11. The architectural plans depict that vertical, smooth James Hardie panels will be utilized in 
between/around windows. Additionally, horizontal clear cedar will be utilized on the east and south 
elevations as an accent wall feature.  

12. The applicant provides a full-dimensional stone chimney which complies with the zoning ordinance 
chimney material requirement but does not fulfill the proposed building material requirement. 

13. Example of other houses granted allowance of cedar siding as a first-floor building material: 

o 15 N. Maple St. (Ord. 2844 approved in 2013) 

o 527 Aberdeen Rd. (Ord. 3060 approved in 2016) 

o 228 Hamilton Ave. (Ord. 3203 approved in 2019) 

 

Roof Material  

14. Article 6, Section B, Part 4 (i) of the Zoning Ordinance prohibits metal roofs on single-family homes except 
when used as an accent features. This code section states that roofs shall be constructed of heavyweight 
architectural shingles, wood, slate, or other similar materials. 

15. The applicant proposes the house with entirely a metal roof which is the variation in consideration at this 
public hearing.  

16. It is to staff’s knowledge that the request for an entire metal roof is not the first time it has been 
requested (i.e. 240 Center Road), but relief on the Village’s roof material requirement to permit an entire 
metal roof has never been granted before.  

81



17. The submitted architectural plans state that the color of the roof is to be determined. The colored 
renderings depict a black metal roof color. 

18. Staff suggests that the applicant use metal roof material as an accent feature as the code encourages.  

 

Standards for Variations 
For reference, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” 
that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request: 
 

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:  

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;  
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  
 

b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 
determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or hardships, shall also take into consideration the 
extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence:  

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if 
the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, to 

other property within the same zoning classification;  
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the 
property;  

 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest in 

the property;  
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  

 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood;  

 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, substantially 

increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
Affirmative Motions 
 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve a variation request to allow non-masonry siding for first-floor 
and second-floor building materials on a house proposed on Lot B in the Aurthur T. McIntosh and 
Company’s Kean Avenue, S. 95th Ave. (19-09-22-300-025-0000), in accordance with the reviewed 
plans, public testimony and Findings of Fact.  

82



 
2. Recommend the Village Board approve a variation request to permit a metal roof on a house 

proposed on Lot B in the Aurthur T. McIntosh and Company’s Kean Avenue, S. 95th Ave. (19-09-22-
300-025-0000), in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and Findings of Fact.  

 
 
 
 

83



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

Lot B in the Aurthur T. McIntosh and Company’s
Kean Avenue Estates, S. 95th Ave.

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

2/27/2024 Date:

0.04

Address Points
Parcels
Townships

84



85



Site Visit Photos Taken on 3.1.24 

 

86



 

87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



Standard dimensions & grades

Standard lengths & grades
2.4m, 3.0m, 3.6m, 4.2m, 4.8m
Intermediate lengths of 1.8m, 2.7m, 3.3m, 3.9m and 
4.5m also available on a lower volume basis. Finger 
Jointed available in 4.2m, 4.8m and 6.0m lengths.
› All A1, A2 and B grade dimensions are actual

rough sawn.
› Companies processing Accoya can supply a wide range

of standard and custom profiles from these sawn sizes.
› Accoya is available in four primary grades:

A1:  4 sides primarily clear. C22 strength grade.
FJ/A1: Finger Jointed to clear lengths.
A2:  3 sides primarily clear. C16 strength grade.
B: Where there is greater tolerance for defects such 

as knots, resin pockets, wane or edge damage.

* See Finger Joint leaflet for actual FJ dimensions

Accoya® wood

DATA SHEET

Heights Widths Grades

100 125 150 200

25 A1, A2, B

32 A1, A, B

38 A1, A2, B

50 A1, FJ/A1*, A2, B

63 A1, FJ/A1*, A2

75 A1, FJ/A1*, A2

100 A1, A2

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

Accoya is a modified wood setting  
the benchmark for wood performance, 
finish and sustainability. It has been 
proven through intensive testing and 
in 1000s of projects worldwide to 
outperform the competition.

Key features
Accoya wood is produced from sustainably sourced, fast 
growing wood and manufactured using Accsys’ proprietary 
patented modification process from surface to core.

HIGHLY  
STABLE

EXCELLENT  
MACHINABILITY

SUSTAINABLY 
SOURCED

IDEAL FOR  
COATING

NON TOXIC

100% 
RECYCLABLE

HIGHLY  
DURABLE

BAREFOOT  
FRIENDLY

NATURAL 
WOOD

INSECT 
RESISTANT

STRUCTURALLY 
CERTIFIED

THERMAL
INSULATOR

*

*

*

Approved Manufacturer 
Training Programme
Accsys run a training programme for manufacturers 
of Accoya products. We strongly recommend all 
companies manufacturing products from Accoya 
participate in the programme.

116



Insect decay
Accoya wood is indigestible to a wide range of pests 
and an effective barrier to attack. Five year ground contact 
testing by independent laboratories in Florida USA, Northern 
Territory Australia and sites across Thailand has shown less 
termite damage on Accoya than on naturally durable species 
such as FEQ Burmese Teak and Spotted Gum.

Salt water contact and immersion
Accoya is not detrimentally affected by salt water contact 
or immersion. Field testing over 10 years immersion have 
shown some attack on Accoya by marine organisms but 
less than that sustained on other durable woods in test.

Machinability
Processing does not affect the unique properties of 
Accoya wood, as it is modified to the core. It is relatively 
easy to process and comparable to a softwood or medium 
density hardwood such as Yellow Poplar (Tulip Wood). 
With the right training no special tools are required for 
cross cutting, ripping, planing, routing and drilling.  
Further details can be found in the Accoya Wood 
Information Guide.

Gluing
Both load bearing and non-load bearing applications have 
been tested using adhesive systems for laminating, finger 
jointing and frame corner joints. While good results can 
be achieved with most common adhesives, PU, EPI, epoxy 
and PRF give the best results. Results using polyvinyl acetate 
(PVAc) can vary greatly. MUF adhesives should be avoided. 
Contact your adhesive supplier for more information.

Finishing
A finish or coating does not need to be applied to Accoya to 
achieve longevity and dimensional stability. Details on natural 
weathering of uncoated Accoya can be found in the Wood 
Information Guide. Most commonly used coating systems 
can be used on Accoya wood. Testing has been performed 
with a full range of oil-based and water-based coating 
systems. Leading coating manufacturers have found that 
their film form coating systems last longer on Accoya. 
Contact your coating supplier for more information.

Fastening
The use of corrosion-proof steel fastenings that conform to 
EN 10088-1 is recommended such as A2, A4 quality stainless 
steel. Use of other metals and alloys is included in the Accoya 
Wood Information Guide.

Material

100% Solid Accoya wood

Durability

EN 350 Class 1 (the highest rating) and exceeding the 
performance of durable woods in long term ground contact 
field tests according to the local national standards in 
Australia, Japan, New Zealand and USA. 

Equilibrium Moisture Content

3–5 % at 65% relative humidity, 20°C

Density

Average 510 kg/m³, 65% RH, 20°C, Range 400 to 600 kg/m³

Material Fire Rating

Class C in USA (ASTM E84) and D in Europe (EN14915)  like 
most softwoods. Accoya wood can be fire treated to meet 
higher requirements.

Thermal Conductivity

EN 12667, λ = 0.12 W/m∙K
ASTM C177, y = 0.102 W/m-K

Bending Strength

Accoya A1 quality is classified as C22 strength grade 
and Accoya A2 quality is classified as C16.

Bending Stiffness

EN 408, 8800 N/mm2

Janka Hardness

ASTM D143, Side 4100 N (922 LBF), End grain 6600 N 
(1484 LBF).

Brinell Hardness

2.4 EN 1534 (2010)

Shrinkage

WET – 65% RH / 20°C*
Radial – 0.4%
Tangential – 0.8%
*Average Values

WET – Oven Dry*
Radial – 0.7%
Tangential – 1.5%

Copyright © Accsys Technologies 2020, Accsys Technologies is a trading name of Titan Wood Limited. Accoya® and the Trimarque 
Device are registered trademarks owned by Titan Wood Limited and may not be used or reproduced without written permission. 
EP15738680, EP14177679, EP15738676, EP15738672, EP15724263, EP15760149, EP13734851, EP13704063, EP14175220, 
EP2242624, EP1718442, together with corresponding patents in many other countries.

For more information please refer to the  
Wood Information Guide at www.accoya.com

117



118



119



120



 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a 

reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 

or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

121



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 

122



                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                  March 7, 2024 

 
Project: Triple Crown Training 
Meeting Type:  Workshop  
Requests: Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation 
Location: 9426 Corsair Road 
Applicant:  David W. Posley Jr.  
Prop. Owner:  UMC Meds, LLC 
Consultants:  None  
Representative: Applicant  
Report By:  Amanda Martinez, Planner 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 44,536 sq. ft. (±1 Acres)                                                                   Figure 1. Location Map 
 PIN(s): 19-09-34-302-013-0000 
Existing Zoning:  I-1 
Prop.  Zoning: I-1 with a Special Use Permit for Indoor 

Recreation  
Buildings / Lots: 1 building / 1 lot 
Total Sq. Ft.: ±12,000 sq. ft. 
Average Lot Size: N/A 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property Industrial Industrial I-1 

North Industrial Industrial I-1 

South  Industrial Industrial I-1 

East Industrial Industrial I-1 

West Industrial Industrial I-1 

 
Project Summary  
The applicant, David W. Posley Jr., representing Triple Crown Training LLC, a tenant/lessee on behalf of the property owner, UMC 
Meds, LLC, has filed an application requesting a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation to open an indoor baseball training facility 
at 9426 Corsair Road. The subject property is zoned I-1 light industry district and is located within the Airport Industrial Park.  A 
Special Use Permit was granted in 2012 (Ord. 2806) for a similar operation (National Rhino Sports Academy) at this location. The 
longevity of the discontinuance of the special use requires the business to obtain a new Special Use Permit.  

Attachments 
1. Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
2. Site Photographs taken 3.1.24 
3. ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey dated 9.29.21 and received 2.15.24 
4. Floor Plan received 2.16.24 
5. Revised Floor Plan received 2.23.24 

123



6. Business Operation Letter received 2.22.24 
7. Top Velocity Program Brochure received 2.14.24  
8. Top Velocity Website Homepage  
9. Findings of Fact provided by applicant and received 2.16.24 
10.   Special Use Permit Findings of Fact Form for Plan Commissioners  

 
Analysis 
In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Proposed Use 

• The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation to operate a private indoor baseball 
training facility at 9426 Corsair Road.  

• The subject property consists of a ±12,000 square foot industrial building on a ± 1-acre lot located within the 
Airport Industrial Park.  

• The subject site would be a new franchise location for the business known as Triple Crown 
Training which facilitates the “Top Velocity Academy Program”, a baseball training program that 
consists of high-quality equipment, curriculum, and coaches.  

• Existing franchise locations are: 
 

o Top Velocity Head Quarters located in Covington, Louisiana 
o Top Velocity York located in York, Pennsylvania 
o Top Velocity Dayton located in Moraine, Ohio 
o Top Velocity Charlotte located in Pineville, North Carolina 
o Top Velocity Argyle located in Argyle, Texas 
o Top Velocity San Diego located in San Diego, California 
o Top Velocity Burlingame located in Burlingame, California 
o Top Velocity Central Long Island located in Bohemia, New York 
o Top Velocity Boca Raton located in Boca Raton, Florida 
o Top Velocity Nampa located in Nampa, Idaho 
o Top Velocity Salado located in Salado, Texas 

 
• The applicant stated that the space is still intact from the previous baseball training facility that used the space. 
• Per the submitted ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey, the vestibule is 31.79’ x 60.90’ (per the 

submitted floor plan, the vestibule is approximately 39’ x 9’ 6” and has two bathrooms). After 
entering the vestibule, patrons would then enter the turf and netted area that is approximately 
109’ x 79’.  

• Per the submitted floor plan, there will be a 2’ x 6’ counter for retail products, ancillary to their use 
but a staple part of their Top Velocity Academy Program since they offer nutritional guidance and 
supplements as part of the program. The submitted floor plan shows that the counter will be in 
the very front of the space.  

• Per the submitted floor plan, there will be 5 pitching and throwing lanes in the approximately 18’7” 
x 47’ 8” room in the rear of the space. The floor plan also shows an approximately 18’7” x 47’ 8” 
weight room next to the pitching/throwing room. 

• Per the submitted business operations letter, the business would have 4 employees on-site (2 of 
the 4 are the main coaches). 

• The business intends to have the training facility mainly for players that are members of their 
program. The applicant verbally stated that the business will be open to the public as well as the 
members of their programs. 

• Per the submitted business operation letter, the business would allow teams to have a contract 
with the business. The teams (approximately 8 teams) would have an assigned time to be at the 
facility. The teams will have 2 days a week of 2-hour training. 

124



• Per the submitted business operation letter, the business would have 2 programs, Top Velocity 
Academy Program and Start Right Training. The Start Right Training program would occur 2-5 days 
a week for 8 weeks. The Top Velocity Academy Program brochure is attached to this staff report; 
according to the Top Velocity website, this program operates 5 days a week. 

• The applicant verbally stated that the maximum operating scenario for their business would be 2 
teams which would approximately be 24 people at the facility at the same time (2 teams and 2 
coaches).  

• The applicant is proposing hours of operation within the permissible hours of operation (7am to 
11pm), thus, no special use approval is required for extended hours of operation. 

• The proposed business hours of operation are Monday through Sunday: 7:00am-11:00pm. The 
applicant stated in the business operation letter that the peak hours would be from 5:00pm-
9:00pm. 

• Staff notes that Google Images show a roll out dumpster (no trash enclosure); staff assumes that 
the trash gets rolled inside the building to comply with the requirement to screen trash handling 
either indoors or within a trash enclosure structure. Staff recommends discussing trash handling 
at this site before the applicant submits the site plan for the public hearing. The applicant would 
need to either revise the floor plan to show where the trash bin goes indoors (the submitted floor 
plan does not show the loading dock area) or implement a trash enclosure on the site plan that 
complies with the Village trash enclosure standards. 
 

Existing Parking  
• The Zoning Ordinance requires Indoor Recreation facilities to provide “1 parking space for every 4 

patrons based upon the maximum occupancy of the facility, plus 1 parking space for each 
employee during the largest working shift”.  

• The previous baseball training business that was at this location (National Rhino Sports Academy) 
had 10 pitching/batting lanes and the same maximum operation of 2 teams (approximately 24 
people including the coaches); the previous baseball training business was required to provide 6 
parking spaces. Staff at the time referenced the American Planning Association parking standards 
that suggested 1-4 parking stalls per batting cage and used the maximum operating occupancy.  

• To be consistent, staff referred to the parking analysis that was provided for the previous baseball 
training business. According to the submitted floor plan and the American Planning Association 
parking standards, the 5 pitching/throwing lanes would yield a requirement of 5-20 parking stalls. 
According to the applicant, the “maximum operating scenario” (no definition in the Zoning 
Ordinance) would be 2 teams (approximately 24 people including the coaches). According to the 
submitted business operation letter, there will be at most 4 employees during peak hours. The 
required number of parking spaces for the proposed use would equate to 8 spaces. 

• If staff were to take a more stringent approach and conduct the parking analysis based on 
“maximum occupancy”, the required number of parking spaces for the proposed use would equate 
to 64 spaces. 

• The submitted ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey shows that there are 7 parking spaces provided on the 
subject site.  

• The west side of the parking lot and the rear of the subject lot is unpaved, gravel (Will County GIS 
aerial images show that the gravel was put in between 2015-2017 with a setback from the west 
property line then in 2018 extended the gravel to the property line).  

• Staff requested the applicant to pave the rest of the lot to comply with the Zoning Ordinance and 
provide additional parking. The Zoning Ordinance requires all off-street parking, except in a single-
family district, to be improved with concrete curb and gutter and paved surface (not gravel). The 
applicant responded that the gravel area is fenced off and would restrict parking in the rear (see 
the submitted ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey for fence location). The applicant also mentioned that 

125



there will not be a demand for more parking since they mostly see a drop-off and pick-up operation 
for their programs and that the business will not be providing an indoor waiting/gathering area.  

• Additionally, the applicant has verbally stated that they would be agreeable to providing striped 
parking spaces just north of the existing parking spaces (with this option, staff would need to 
ensure that the applicant can meet the required drive aisle width and parking stall dimensions).  

• Staff recommends the Commission consider adding a condition to pave the lot with either asphalt 
or cement, implement a 5-foot pavement setback from the property lines, and add additional 
striped parking spaces to ensure any parking demand or spillover is accommodated.  

• Article 7 Section B Part 5 in the Village Ordinance provides for parking adjustments to the minimum 
number of parking spaces required, subject to a case-by case approval by the Plan Commission, 
and states the following: 
 
“The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust parking  
requirements: 

1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements.  
The petitioner shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the  
Plan Commission that the operation will require less parking than the Ordinance  
requires. 
 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written 
documentation to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared, or off-site 
parking spaces are available to satisfy the parking demand. 
 

a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking  
lots are large enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that  
parking spaces will be shared at specific times of the day (shared parking, where  
one activity uses the spaces during daytime hours and another activity uses the  
spaces during evening hours.) 
 
b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required  
parking and shall be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet from the  
principal use that it is intended to serve.” 
 

Standards for Special Uses  
Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan 
Commission must use to evaluate every special use request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan 
Commission, unless such Commission shall find:  
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, 
the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

126



d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 
it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  

 

127



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

9426 S. Corsair Rd.

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

3/1/2024 Date:

0.04

Address Points
Parcels
Townships

128



129



130



131



From: Legacy Adviser
To: Amanda Martinez; Corey Stallings; Cutrice Stallings; O H
Subject: Floor Plan* Edit
Date: Thursday, February 22, 2024 4:12:44 PM
Attachments: Triple Crown Training FloorPlan.png

CAUTION: This e-mail originated outside of the Village's email system.
DO NOT click links or open attachments unless you confirm the incoming address of the sender and know the content is safe.

See attached

132

mailto:adviser@thelegacyathlete.com
mailto:amartinez@frankfortil.org
mailto:cstallingssr@gmail.com
mailto:cutrice1422@gmail.com
mailto:ohassad1@gmail.com



133



134



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 1/11

TOP VELOCITY PERFORMANCE
CENTERS
IF YOU WANT TO TRAIN WITH THE BEST PLAYER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM IN THE
NATION, TOP VELOCITY IS THE PLACE TO BE!

THE PURPOSE OF
TOP VELOCITY PERFORMANCE CENTERS

In 2020, due to the overwhelming demand of coaches and players throughout the world, Top
Velocity™ set out on a mission to bring Top Velocity™ methods to local communities.  Through

    HOME LOCATIONS FRANCHISE INFO REQUEST CONTACT UU

    985-867-8536  info@topvelocity.net   

135

https://www.topvelocity.center/
https://www.topvelocity.center/
https://www.topvelocity.center/
https://www.topvelocity.center/locations/
https://www.topvelocity.center/request-info/
https://www.topvelocity.center/contact/
mailto:info@topvelocity.net
mailto:info@topvelocity.net
http://www.facebook.com/topvelocity
https://twitter.com/topvelocity
https://www.instagram.com/topvelocity/


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 2/11

our licensed facilities and certified instructors thousands of aspiring athletes will now have
unlimited access to Top Velocity™ training methods in their hometown.

Top Velocity™ programs are specifically designed to enhance the overall athletic performance in
all skilled movements of baseball and softball athletes.  Regardless of your specific position on
the field we have a program for you.    

The Top Velocity™ System of training provides the best player development program in the
world with a progressive curriculum of Science-Based training methods that is proven to help
every athlete reach their full potential.  From 6-year-old athletes to the Pros, the Top Velocity
program provides a proven way to improve your athletic performance NATURALLY while
reducing the risk of injury. 

Top Velocity Performance Centers are an extension of Headquarters and provide a local training
option while maintaining Top Velocity™ standards through our live virtual training.  

Find your nearest location and schedule to attend our next event to experience why Top
Velocity™ has been the industry leader in player development training for 15+ years, helping
thousands of coaches and athletes of all ages through our proven science-based biomechanical
training systems.

THE TOP VELOCITY PROGRAM

What is TopVelocity Baseball Training?What is TopVelocity Baseball Training?

FIND A LOCATION
136

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SxKWtpNi-dM


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 3/11

TAKE A LOOK INSIDE OUR FACILITIES

137

https://www.topvelocity.center/locations/
https://www.topvelocity.center/locations/
https://www.topvelocity.center/locations/


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 4/11

START TRAINING NOW!
Each affiliate location follows the successful training format developed over the past 15+ years
that has produced more 90+mph testimonials than any other training program in the game.
 Whether you are just begining your training or an elite performer looking to increase your
performance, Top Velocity and Top Velocity Performance Centers have a program to fit your
needs.

STEPS TO MEMBERSHIP:
138



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 5/11

PLAYER INTERVIEW

"
First step is to schedule your FREE Player Interview to discuss your goals.  Once you enter the
facility you will see there is something special happening in a Top Velocity Performance Center.
 You will meet with a staff member who will take you on a tour of the facility pointing out all the
special features of a Top Velocity Performance Center.  Make sure to review the goal banners
which will outline how to reach your goals.  

PROGRAM RECOMMENDATION

"
Following your interview you will be provided our best program recommendation based upon
your age, skill level, and goals. 

Standard Program Options:
Start Right Intro Clinic (2 days a week)
Start Right Training (5 days a week)
Top Velocity Academy Training Membership (over 12yoa – 5 days a week)
Clinic
Camp

MEMBERSHIP SELECTED

"
Once you have selected your program you will be registered for your Training Group or specific
class.  Each athlete will establish their Top Velocity account and will be provided access to
education, training, and evaluation systems through an application on their phone or internet
login.  All of our training memberships start with the Complete Evaluation to establish a baseline

139



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 6/11

of performance and will be provided a customized training program through our artificial
intelligence programming.  If you have selected a clinic or intro class you will receive a base
evaluation to establish general performance metrics to educate the athlete of their current
performance level.  As with all of our introductory clinics, classes, and workshops, we encourage
each athlete to take the next steps towards our unlimited membership options to start training
with a customized training program in our academy program.   

PLAYER EVALUATION

"
The proprietary Top Velocity evaluation assesses over 50 individual measurements which are
entered into the Trademarked Top Velocity Artificial Intelligence Program to establish a baseline
and assess the athletes current ability.  Once the data is entered the athletes will receive their
customized training program with a roadmap to elite metrics.

The Top Velocity Evaluation is an essential step for athletes entering into our training programs
for the following reasons:

1.  Establish a baseline of current ability

2.  Assign Customized Training

3.  Establishment future Goals

4.  Records and Monitors Progress

The Top Velocity evaluation is recommended every 2-4 weeks for those who select the Top
Velocity memership.  After the initial evaluation, each athlete and parent meets individually with
a Team Member to review the results.

3X/2X VELOCITY CAMP

"
140



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 7/11

The 3X Pitching Velocity Programs and the 2X Position Player Programs were built to develop
the healthily high velocity athlete.  This is the premier offering and the program that has built
the success of Top Velocity.  Each player joining a membership will be provided the complete
camp training with Certified Instructors in your affiliate location who will work directly with your
athlete following Coach Brent via live remote broadcast from headquarters.  This is the $2997
program for the 2 day training and will be included in your Top Velocity Performance Center
Membership at a discount.

START RIGHT TRAINING

"
The Start Right Training Program is provided for the 4 weeks following the attendance of the
3X/2X Velocity Camp to ensure proper proficiency in all med ball and throwing drills.  Weekly
training times provide the instruction needed to master these drills.  For the Athletes who are
not interested in the full commitment of the Membership, they have the option to begin training
through the Start Right Intro Clinic which walks an athlete through the Beginner Drills over a 4-
8 week program.  After completing the intro clinic, athletes who qualify are invited to apply for
membership with all its benefits.  

TOP VELOCITY ACADEMY

"
After the player is properly onboarded into their training program they are provided their
customized Top Velocity Training application on their phone for ease of instruction.  Athletes are
placed in training groups to follow their 5 day a week training program.

REACH YOUR GOALS
Start your customized training platform and study all materials to further your understanding of
what it takes to be a professionally trained athlete.  Re-evaluations should be performed every 2-
4 weeks to establish your next level of training.  Follow the program and reach your goals!

WHY TOP VELOCITY GETS RESULTS!
141



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 8/11

Start Building Your Baseball Franchise NOW!Start Building Your Baseball Franchise NOW!

WHAT MAKES TOP VELOCITY DIFFERENT?

COMPLETE EVALUATION
With the proprietary Top Velocity evaluation you have the best player evaluation system in the
game.  No matter what level you are currently we will make you better.

EDUCATION
We pride ourself on educating our athletes and providing scientific data to substantiate our
findings.  Top Velocity recommendations are not an opinion but are rather based on science to
allow each athlete to follow a system that produces results as compared to the traditional
anecdotal information provided by most coaches.

MOBILITY TRAINING
A cutting-edge mobility routine to unlock your bodies power production and reduce injury.

DRILLS
A proprietary medicine ball overload velocity training program in addition to a complete
throwing program that significantly reduces injury.

OLYMPIC LIFTING

142

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=suhB99CmqzI


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 9/11

A Science built strength and conditioning program to optimize mass, power, and motor control
to develop an explosive elite athlete.

ANAEROBIC CONDITIONING
To enhance high performance stamina and recovery.

NUTRITION PROGRAM
The purpose of this program is to educate the athlete regarding optimal nutrition as part of
optimizing performance and remove misinformation currently on the market.

PITCH DEVELOPMENT
Once on the training program our athlete’s have an opportunity to develop a more complete
arsenal through advanced analysis of spin, pitch grip, and ball release techiques used by the
Pro’s.  

CUSTOMIZED PROGRAMS
Each of our athletes will receive a customized training program following a complete biometric
evaluation.  Our proprietary evaluation and tradermarked Artificial Intelligence program
develops an exact roadmap for each athlete to reach elite metrics following their training
program.

OTHER WAYS TO START WITH TOP VELOCITY!

CLINICS
Not all players are ready for our membership and training model.  Clinics are a great way to get
started and learn better techniques.  Clinics offered are Throwing Velocity, Hitting Velocity,
Catcher Sub 2.0, Weight Training, Speed & Agility, Arm Care, and Nutrition.  

START RIGHT INTRO CLINIC
The Start Right Intro Clinic is a program designed primarily for the under 12 age group to
introduce the Top Velocity methods to athletes covering a course format of 10 different training
agendas focused on throwing and hitting skills development.  This training will teach younger
athletes proper mechanics and introduce advanced training methods in a class setting.

143



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 10/11

 Following this training, athletes are eligible to select the Start Right Training Membership which
provides up to 5 day a week training for the commited athlete.

SEASONAL TRAINING
For the multi-sport athlete, our seasonal training programs offer an instructor led program
designed to fast-track an athlete through the Top Velocity methods.  The programs include Off-
Season, Pre-Season, and In-Season group instruction.

HOLIDAY OR SUMMER PROGRAMS
These programs are designed for fun and education.  Each session includes instruction in Top
Velocity methods and competative games to keep your young athlete active during the school
breaks.

TEAM TRAINING
The Team Training program is a special offering that provides a weekly scheduled workout
program for teams looking for an edge.  Each session provides a dynamic warm-up, TopV med
ball drills, baseball drills, and finishes each session with speed & agility training.  Teams are
encouraged to use the batting cage prior to workouts to maximize their training time.  Each
athlete will recieve periodic evaluations to establish a baseline and monitor development
throughout the program.  

READY TO DOMINATE THE COMPETITION?
CLICK THE LINK BELOW TO GET STARTED TODAY!

SIGN UP

Top Velocity Performance Centers, LLC
17588 Hard Hat Dr.
Covington, LA 70433
CONNECT WITH US

   

Sitemap

Terms

Return Policy

Accessibility

Home

About

Locations

Request Info

Contact Us

Customer Support ›

For more information on
our products and services...

144

https://www.topvelocity.center/contact/
http://www.facebook.com/topvelocity
https://twitter.com/topvelocity
https://www.instagram.com/topvelocity/
https://www.youtube.com/brentpourciau
https://www.topvelocity.center/sitemap
https://www.topvelocity.center/terms
https://www.topvelocity.center/return-policy
https://www.topvelocity.center/accessibility
https://www.topvelocity.center/
https://www.topvelocity.center/about
https://www.topvelocity.center/locations
https://www.topvelocity.center/request-info
https://www.topvelocity.center/contact-us


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 11/11

Copyright © 2024 Top Velocity Performance Centers, LLC. All rights reserved

145



146



147



 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

148



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

149


	Agenda 3.7.24
	PC Minutes 2.22.24 DRAFT
	1. Binder1- 219 Pacific
	Staff Report PUBLIC HEARING 3.7.24
	1. GIS aerial 1-1000
	2. Downtown Frankfort Boundary Map
	3. Quick Checklist excerpt Comp Plan
	4. Findings of Fact (variation) 1.19.24
	5. Findings of Fact_Variation_Commissioners
	6. 2.8.24 Minutes
	7. Survey 12.28.23
	8. Tree Survey 2.26.24
	9. Plat of Subdivision 1.19.24
	10. Site Plan-Floorplan-Elevations 12.28.23
	11. Elevations 3.1.24
	2023-0196_A-4.0_ELEV COLOR PRESENTATION 3-A-4.0
	2023-0196_A-4.1_ELEV COLOR PRESENTATION 3-A-4.1

	12. Colored Rendering (before & after) 2.29.24

	2. Binder1- Bear Down BBQ
	Staff Report - public hearing 3.7.24
	1. GIS 1-2000
	2. Survey
	3. Floor Plan 3.1.24
	4. Findings of Fact 1.16.24 (SUP)
	5. Findings of Fact_SUP_Commissioners
	6. Butera Parking Analysis - EXISTING REGULATIONS
	6. Butera Parking Analysis - PROPOSED REGULATIONS
	7. email 2.29.24 (business description & hours)
	8. Menu from website

	3. Staff Report for Magic Massage Public Hearing 3.7.24
	4. Staff Report Blocker Residence Public Hearing 3.7.24
	5. Workshop Staff Report for Triple Crown Training 3.7.24



